

EUROPEAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS COUR EUROPÉENNE DES DROITS DE L'HOMME

Overview of the Court's case-law 2022

COUNCIL OF EUROPE



CONSEIL DE L'EUROPE

English edition

© Council of Europe – European Court of Human Rights, 2023

This document is an extract from the Annual Report 2022 of the European Court of Human Rights, Council of Europe.

Anyone wishing to reproduce and/or translate all or part of this document in print, online or in any other format should contact publishing@echr.coe.int for further instructions

> When citing this document, please acknowledge the source "Annual Report 2022 of the European Court of Human Rights, Council of Europe"

This document is available to download at https://ks.echr.coe.int/ web/echr-ks/case-law-updating

Table of Contents

JURISDICTION AND ADMISSIBILITY	39
Jurisdiction of States (Article 1)	39
"CORE" RIGHTS	41
Right to life (Article 2)	41
Obligation to protect life	41
Prohibition of torture and inhuman or degrading treatment and punishment (Article 3)	45
Effective investigation	45
Extradition	46
PROCEDURAL RIGHTS	55
Right to a fair hearing in civil proceedings (Article 6 § 1)	55
Applicability	55
Access to a court	57
Right to a fair hearing in criminal proceedings (Article 6 § 1)	58
Fairness of the proceedings	58
Other rights in criminal proceedings	64
No punishment without law (Article 7)	64
OTHER RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS	70
Right to respect for one's private and family life, home and correspondence (Article 8)	70
Applicability	70
Positive obligations	70
Freedom of expression (Article 10)	75
Applicability	75
Freedom of expression	78
Freedom of the press	80
Freedom of assembly and association (Article 11)	83
Applicability	83

Prohibition of discrimination (Article 14)	85
Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 8	85
Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1	96
Right to free elections (Article 3 of Protocol No. 1)	102
Stand for election	102
Prohibition of collective expulsion of nationals (Article 3 of Protocol No. 4)	106
Right to enter national territory	106
BINDING FORCE AND EXECUTION OF JUDGMENTS (ARTICLE 46)	109
Infringement proceedings	109
ADVISORY OPINIONS (ARTICLE 1 OF PROTOCOL No. 16)	112

Chapter 2

Case-law overview

This overview¹ contains a selection by the Jurisconsult of the most interesting cases from 2022.

n 2022 the Grand Chamber delivered nine judgments, one decision and three advisory opinions.

Under Article 3, the Grand Chamber dealt with three cases concerning extradition. In *Khasanov and Rakhmanov* it clarified the scope and nature of the risk assessment under Article 3 in removal cases, as well as the methodology for cases brought by members of vulnerable groups allegedly exposed to systematic ill-treatment. In *Sanchez-Sanchez* the Grand Chamber clarified whether the Convention compliance of a life sentence in a third country requesting extradition is to be assessed by reference to all of the standards which apply to serving life prisoners in the Contracting States (as set out in *Vinter and Others*). In the decision in *McCallum* the Grand Chamber confirmed its approach of distinguishing between the substantive obligation under Article 3 and the related procedural safeguards, the latter not being applicable in the extradition context.

In *Grzęda* the Grand Chamber considered a novel issue: the applicability of Article 6 § 1 (civil limb) to a dispute arising out of the premature termination of the term of office of a member of a judicial council (the National Council of the Judiciary) while he still remained a serving judge. In doing so, it developed and clarified the first and the second conditions of the Vilho Eskelinen test. The Grand Chamber also had regard to the overall context of the reforms of the judicial system, finding that, as a result, the judiciary had been exposed to interference by the executive and legislative powers, and its independence and adherence to rule-of-law standards had been substantially weakened.

^{1.} The overview is drafted by the Directorate of the Jurisconsult and is not binding on the Court.

Under the criminal limb of Article 6 § 1, in *Vegotex International S.A* the Grand Chamber clarified the criteria for assessing the compelling nature of the general-interest grounds which are advanced to justify the use of retrospective legislation designed to influence the judicial determination of a dispute in a tax-related case.

Under Article 10, in *NIT S.R.L. v. the Republic of Moldova* the Grand Chamber developed its case-law on pluralism in the media when dealing, for the first time, with restrictions imposed on a broadcaster with the aim of enabling diversity in the expression of political opinion and enhancing the protection of the free-speech interests of others.

In *Beeler* the Grand Chamber clarified, for the purposes of the applicability of Article 14, the relevant criteria to be applied to circumscribe what falls within the ambit of Article 8, under its "family life" aspect, in the sphere of social welfare benefits. Also under Article 14, in *Savickis and Others* the Grand Chamber dealt with the justification of a difference in treatment based on nationality, in the context of the restoration of a State's independence after unlawful occupation and annexation.

In *H.F. and Others v. France* the Grand Chamber ruled, for the first time, on the existence of a jurisdictional link between a State and its "nationals" in respect of a complaint under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4, and examined the scope of this provision, including with regard to the extent of procedural obligations of the State in the context of a refusal to repatriate.

The Grand Chamber also delivered its second judgment in an infringement procedure (*Kavala*), finding that Türkiye had failed to abide by the Court's final judgment explicitly indicating, under Article 46, the need for an applicant's immediate release. In this connection, the Grand Chamber clarified certain matters concerning the roles of, and the institutional balance between, the Court and the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe.

The Grand Chamber also delivered three advisory opinions in response to requests under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention. In response to a request from the Armenian Court of Cassation (P16-2021-001), the Grand Chamber addressed aspects of its Article 3 and Article 7 case-law with regard to the applicability of statutes of limitations to the prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture. In response to a request from the French *Conseil d'Etat* (P16-2021-002), the Grand Chamber clarified aspects of the practical application of the non-discrimination rule enshrined in Article 14. In response to a request

from the Lithuanian Supreme Administrative Court (P16-2020-002), the Grand Chamber identified the limits of advisory opinions as regards issues relating to the execution of the Court's judgments. It also clarified the requirements and criteria relevant for the assessment of whether the ban preventing an impeached former member of parliament to stand for election to the *Seimas* had become disproportionate for the purposes of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

The Court sitting in Chamber formation also delivered a number of judgments which were interesting in terms of the development of its case-law.

Under Article 2, the Court applied, for the first time, the Osman positive obligation to take preventive operational measures to protect migrants during a sea rescue operation (*Safi and Others*). It also examined, for the first time, whether an act of euthanasia was compliant with the Convention (*Mortier*). Under Article 3, the Court addressed the issue of the repeat victimisation of a rape victim (*J.I. v. Croatia*).

Under Article 6 (criminal limb), the Court clarified the nature and scope of the privilege against self-incrimination in the context of proceedings for the imposition of a tax fine (*De Legé*). The Court also clarified the applicability of Article 7 to conversion, upon a prisoner's transfer, of a foreign reducible life sentence into a *de facto* irreducible one (*Kupinskyy*).

Under Article 8, the Court examined, for the first time, a complaint about age-assessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection and claiming to be minors (*Darboe and Camara*), and a complaint about sexual harassment in the workplace (*C. v. Romania*).

As to freedom of expression, the Court clarified the factors relevant for assessing whether the protection of Article 10 extends to a given act or conduct prohibited by law (*Kotlyar*) and whether the measures aimed at protecting the reputational interests of a public body can be regarded as pursuing a "legitimate aim" under Article 10 § 2 (*OOO Memo*). Under Article 11, the Court addressed a new question, namely the applicability of this provision to a strike conducted by individual employees, outside the framework of official trade-union action (*Barış and Others*).

As regard the prohibition of discrimination, in *Arnar Helgi Larusson* the Court ruled, for the first time, that a complaint about a lack of accessibility of public buildings by disabled persons fell within the ambit of "private life", and examined, under Article 14 in conjunction with Article 8, whether the State had fulfilled its positive obligations in this respect. The Court also examined from this standpoint the allegations of racial profiling during an identity check (*Muhammad, Basu*).

In its case-law, the Court considered the interactions between the Convention, on the one hand, and EU law and case-law of the Court of Justice of the European Union, on the other, in cases concerning, among other things, the intervention of the legislature influencing the judicial outcome of a dispute in a tax-related case (*Vegotex International S.A.*), sexual harassment in the workplace (*C. v. Romania*), age-assessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection (*Darboe and Camara*) and reforms of the Polish judicial system (*Grzęda*).

In various cases the Court also noted the interactions between the Convention and international/European law, for example, in cases concerning allegations of racial profiling during an identity check (Basu) and the refusal to repatriate nationals held with their young children in Kurdish-run camps in Syria after the fall of the so-called "Islamic State" (H.F. and Others v. France). The Court referred in particular to the United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (Beeler), the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations (H.F. and Others v. France), the International Convention on the Rights of the Child (Darboe and Camara, H.F. and Others v. France), the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (H.F. and Others v. France), the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Arnar Helgi Larusson), and the Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence against Women and Domestic Violence and the European Social Charter (C. v. Romania, Barış and Others). The Court also relied on the work of the Venice Commission (Grzęda), ECRI (Basu), the UN Human Rights Committee (Basu, Mortier, H.F. and Others v. France) and the International Law Commission (H.F. and Others v. France).

It should also be noted that in many areas the Court developed its case-law on positive obligations that have to be fulfilled by member States under the Convention, in particular in the areas of euthanasia (*Mortier*), the protection of migrants during a sea rescue operation (*Safi and Others*), age-assessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection and claiming to be minors (*Darboe and Camara*), protection against sexual harassment in the workplace (*C. v. Romania*), accessibility of public buildings (*Arnar Helgi Larusson*), a refusal to repatriate (*H.F. and Others v. France*), and the investigation into allegations of racial profiling during an identity check (*Basu, Muhammad*).

Lastly, the Court ruled on the breadth of the margin of appreciation that should be afforded to States Parties to the Convention, for example in the areas of euthanasia (*Mortier*), the observance of political pluralism in the media (*NIT S.R.L.*), accessibility of public buildings (*Arnar Helgi* *Larusson*), and a difference in treatment based exclusively on nationality in the context of the restoration of a State's independence (*Savickis and Others*).

JURISDICTION AND ADMISSIBILITY

Jurisdiction of States (Article 1)

The judgment in *H.F. and Others v. France*² concerned jurisdiction, the scope of the right to enter national territory and procedural obligations in the context of a refusal to repatriate.

In 2014 and 2015, the applicants' daughters, who were French nationals, left France for Syria with their partners, where they gave birth to children. Since 2019, after the military fall of the so-called Islamic State (ISIS), they have reportedly been detained, with their children, in camps run by the Syrian Democratic Forces ("the SDF"), a local force fighting against ISIS and dominated by the Kurdish militia. The applicants unsuccessfully sought urgent repatriation of their daughters and grandchildren. The domestic courts refused to accept jurisdiction on the grounds that the requests concerned the conduct by France of its international relations.

The applicants complained under Article 3 of the Convention and Article 3 of Protocol No. 4. The Court held that the applicants' family members were outside of the jurisdiction of France as regards the complaint under Article 3 (alleged ill-treatment in the camps). The jurisdiction of France was established in respect of the complaint under Article 3 of Protocol No. 4, the Grand Chamber finding a breach of that provision.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court has, for the first time, ruled on the existence of a jurisdictional link between a State and its "nationals" in respect of a complaint under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4.

(i) The Court first clarified that the fact that Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 (unlike Article 1 of the Convention) applies only to nationals was not sufficient to establish the extraterritorial exercise of jurisdiction by a State. Secondly, the refusal to grant the applicants' request had not formally deprived their family members of the right to enter France or prevented them from doing so: they were physically unable to reach the French border (since they were being held in Syrian camps) and France neither exercised "effective control" over the relevant territory

^{2.} H.F. and Others v. France [GC], nos. 24384/19 and 44234/20, 14 September 2022.

nor had any "authority" or "control" over them. In this regard, relying on the preparatory work and other international instruments, the Court clarified that the right to enter was not limited to nationals already on the territory of the State concerned or under its effective control, but it also had to benefit those nationals outside of the State's jurisdiction. Further, if Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 were to apply only to nationals who arrived at the national border or who had no travel documents, it would be deprived of effectiveness in the contemporary context of increasing globalisation/international mobility which is presenting new challenges in terms of security and defence in the fields of diplomatic and consular protection, international humanitarian law and international cooperation.

From this perspective, the Court did not therefore exclude that certain circumstances relating to the situation of individuals who wished to enter the State of which they were nationals, might give rise to a jurisdictional link with that State. Such circumstances would necessarily depend on the specific features of each case and might vary considerably from one case to another. In the instant case, the following special features enabled the Court to establish France's jurisdiction in respect of the complaint raised under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4: repatriation had been sought officially and the requests referred to a real and immediate threat to the lives and health of the applicants' family members, including extremely vulnerable young children; the impossibility for them to leave the camps without the assistance of the French authorities; and the willingness of the Kurdish authorities to hand them over to France.

(ii) With regard to Article 3 of the Convention, the Court found that neither the French nationality of the applicants' family members, nor the mere decision of the French authorities not to repatriate them had the effect of bringing them within the scope of France's jurisdiction as regards the ill-treatment to which they were subjected in Syrian camps under Kurdish control. Such an extension of the Convention's scope found no support in the case-law. First, the mere fact that decisions taken at national level have had an impact on the situation of persons residing abroad is not such as to establish the jurisdiction of the State concerned over them outside its territory. Secondly, neither domestic nor international law required the State to act on behalf of its nationals and to repatriate them. Moreover, the Convention did not guarantee the right to diplomatic or consular protection. Thirdly, and in spite of the stated desire of local non-State authorities that the States concerned should repatriate their nationals, France would have to negotiate with them as to the principle and conditions of any such operation and to organise its implementation, which would inevitably take place in Syria.

"CORE" RIGHTS

Right to life (Article 2)

Obligation to protect life

The judgment in *Safi and Others v. Greece*³ concerned the application of the Osman obligations to a sea rescue operation.

On 20 January 2014 a fishing boat transporting twenty-seven migrants sank in the Aegean Sea, off the island of Farmakonisi. The applicants were on board the fishing boat, which capsized as the Greek coastguard tried to tow it. The sinking of the boat resulted in the death of eleven people, including close relatives of the applicants. The applicants complained under Articles 2, 3 and 13 of the Convention.

The Court found, in the first place, a violation of the procedural limb of Article 2 of the Convention on account of the ineffective investigation into the fatal accident. Secondly, while noting that it could not, in the absence of an effective investigation, express a position on several details of the rescue operation or on the question of whether there had been an attempt to push the applicants back towards Turkish waters as alleged, the Court concluded, having regard to certain facts which were undisputed or otherwise established, that the Greek authorities had failed to comply with the duty under Article 2 to take preventive operational measures to protect the individuals whose lives were at risk. The Court found, thirdly, a violation of Article 3 on account of the treatment which some of the applicants experienced following their arrival on the island of Farmakonisi.

The judgment is noteworthy in that it concerns the application, for the first time, of the positive obligation set out in *Osman v. the United Kingdom*⁴ to take preventive operational measures to protect migrants during a sea rescue operation.

The duty to take preventive operational measures under Article 2 of the Convention being one of means, not of result, the Court emphasised that the coastguard could not be expected to succeed in rescuing everyone whose life was at risk at sea. The captain and crew of a vessel involved in a sea rescue operation often had to make difficult and quick

^{3.} Safi and Others v. Greece, no. 5418/15, 7 July 2022.

^{4.} Osman v. the United Kingdom, 28 October 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-VIII.

decisions and such decisions were, as a rule, at the captain's discretion. However, it had to be demonstrated that these decisions were inspired by the essential effort to secure the right to life of the persons in danger.

Having regard to a number of omissions and delays in the manner in which the rescue operation was conducted and organised, the Court found that the authorities had not done all that could reasonably be expected of them to provide all the applicants and their relatives with the level of protection required. The respondent State had not therefore fulfilled their positive protective obligation, and the Court concluded that there had been a violation of the substantive limb of Article 2 of the Convention.

The judgment in *Mortier v. Belgium*⁵ concerned the euthanasia authorised by law and carried out on a patient experiencing mental suffering.

The applicant's mother had been living with diagnosed chronic depression for about forty years. Two months after she had submitted a formal request to that effect, a doctor carried out her euthanasia. No breaches of the Euthanasia Act were found either by a specialised review board or in a criminal investigation.

The applicant complained under Articles 2 and 8 of the Convention. The Court found no violation of Article 2 under its substantive head, considering that the legislative framework governing the preeuthanasia procedure had provided for sufficient substantive and procedural safeguards and that the act in question had been performed in compliance with the law. However, it found a violation of Article 2 under its procedural head, as a result of the lack of independence of a specialised review board and the excessive length of the criminal investigation. The Court also considered that neither the specific act of euthanasia nor the applicant's lack of involvement in the process had breached his Article 8 rights. In particular, the legislature could not be reproached for obliging doctors to respect the patient's wishes concerning contact with family members, or for imposing on them a duty of confidentiality and medical secrecy.

The judgment is noteworthy because the Court examined, for the first time, whether an act of euthanasia was compliant with the Convention. It clarified the nature and scope of the positive obligations (substantive and procedural) of a State under Article 2 in this very specific context, where euthanasia had been requested by a patient experiencing mental

^{5.} Mortier v. Belgium, no. 78017/17, 4 October 2022.

rather than physical suffering, and whose death would not otherwise have occurred in the short term.

(i) The Court first addressed the question whether such an act could, in certain circumstances, be carried out without contravening Article 2. Referring to its end-of-life case-law (Lambert and Others v. France⁶; Pretty v. the United Kingdom⁷; and Haas v. Switzerland⁸), the Court had regard, in this context, to the right to respect for private life, guaranteed by Article 8, and to the concept of personal autonomy which it encompassed. The right of an individual to decide how and when his or her life should end was one aspect of the right to respect for private life. The decriminalisation of euthanasia was intended to give individuals a free choice to avoid what in their view would be an undignified and distressing end to life. Human dignity and human freedom constituted the very essence of the Convention. The Court concluded that, while it was not possible to derive a right to die from Article 2, the right to life enshrined therein could not be interpreted as prohibiting per se the conditional decriminalisation of euthanasia. However, in order to be compatible with Article 2, that decriminalisation had to be accompanied by suitable and sufficient safeguards to prevent abuse and thus secure respect for the right to life.

(ii) The Court went on to find that any complaint alleging that an act of euthanasia had breached Article 2 had to be examined under the head of the State's positive obligations to protect the right to life. In view of the complexity of this area and the lack of a European consensus, States had to be afforded a margin of appreciation, which, however, was not unlimited.

(iii) With regard to the substantive positive obligations at stake, the Court examined whether there was a legislative framework for preeuthanasia procedures which met the requirements of Article 2, and whether it had been complied with in the particular circumstances of the case. In the Court's view, such a legislative framework had to ensure that the patient's decision to seek an end to his or her life had been taken freely and in full knowledge of the facts. Where the legislature had chosen not to provide for independent prior review of a specific act of euthanasia, the Court would look more carefully into the question of substantive and procedural safeguards. In addition, the law had to provide for enhanced safeguards surrounding the decision-making process in the case of a request by a patient experiencing mental rather

^{6.} Lambert and Others v. France [GC], no. 46043/14, ECHR 2015 (extracts).

^{7.} Pretty v. the United Kingdom, no. 2346/02, ECHR 2002-III.

^{8.} Haas v. Switzerland, no. 31322/07, ECHR 2011.

than physical suffering, and whose death would not otherwise occur in the short term. For example, in this case the Court attached particular importance to the time that had to be allowed between the written request and the act of euthanasia (at least one month, under Belgian law), to the obligation for the principal doctor to consult other doctors (two other doctors, under Belgian law), and to the requirement that the various doctors consulted had to be independent. In the Court's view, the positive obligations arising under Article 2 meant that the condition of the independence of the doctors consulted presupposed not only a lack of hierarchical or institutional connection, but also formal and practical independence both between the various doctors consulted and vis-à-vis the patient. In the present case, the Court also observed that the law in guestion had been subjected to several thorough reviews, both prior to enactment by the Conseil d'État and subsequently by the Constitutional Court. It concluded that the legislative framework in question had ensured the protection of the patient's right to life, as required by Article 2, and that the euthanasia had been carried out in accordance with that framework.

(iv) As regards the procedural positive obligations in this area, the Court's examination focused on whether the subsequent review mechanism afforded all the safeguards required by Article 2. It clarified that the requirement of an effective official investigation also applied in cases where an act of euthanasia that had been performed was the subject of a criminal complaint lodged by a relative of the deceased, plausibly indicating the existence of suspicious circumstances. In this connection the applicable principles had been set out in Nicolae Virgiliu Tănase v. Romania⁹. As to the need for a criminal investigation in such cases, the Court considered that this was not generally required where death had resulted from euthanasia carried out under legislation which permitted such an act, while rendering it subject to strict conditions. The competent authorities would be required, however, to open an investigation enabling the facts to be established and, where appropriate, those responsible to be identified and punished, where there was a criminal complaint by a relative of the deceased indicating the existence of suspicious circumstances, as in the present case.

In the Court's view, where there was no prior but only a subsequent review of euthanasia, that review had to be carried out in a particularly rigorous manner in order to comply with the obligations laid down in Article 2 of the Convention. The requirement of independence was of

^{9.} Nicolae Virgiliu Tănase v. Romania [GC], no. 41720/13, §§ 165-71, 25 June 2019.

the utmost importance. In the present case, the Court analysed the subsequent review by the board responsible for verifying compliance with the procedure and conditions laid down by the Euthanasia Act. The Court noted that the law did not prevent the doctor who had performed the euthanasia from sitting on the board and voting on whether his or her own acts were compatible with the substantive and procedural requirements of domestic law. The Court considered that the fact of leaving it to the sole discretion of the member concerned to remain silent when he or she had been involved in the euthanasia under review could not be regarded as sufficient to ensure the independence of the board. In view of the crucial role played by the review board, the system of review had not guaranteed its independence, regardless of any real influence the doctor concerned might have had on the board's decision in the present case.

Prohibition of torture and inhuman or degrading treatment and punishment (Article 3)

Effective investigation

The judgment in *J.I. v. Croatia*¹⁰ concerned the duty to effectively investigate serious threats against a rape victim by her abuser and the protection from repeat victimisation and intimidation.

The applicant's father, B.S., was convicted and imprisoned on several counts of rape and incest against her. During his prison leave, he allegedly threatened through their relatives to kill the applicant. The applicant contacted the police on several occasions, including after seeing B.S. at a bus station. On none of those occasions did the police start a criminal investigation, although a serious threat by a family member was a criminal offence subject to public prosecution under domestic law. The applicant's complaint about the police's conduct resulted in an unsuccessful internal inquiry at the Ministry of the Interior. Her complaint before the Constitutional Court was dismissed.

The applicant complained to this Court about the alleged failure by the authorities to protect her from intimidation and repeat victimisation by B.S. and to effectively investigate the alleged threats. In the Court's view, owing to the fear of further abuse and retaliation by B.S., the applicant had been subjected to inhuman treatment within the meaning of Article 3 of the Convention. The Court found a violation of this provision on account of the authorities' failure to conduct an effective

^{10.} J.I. v. Croatia, no. 35898/16, 8 September 2022 (not final).

investigation into her allegations of a serious threat to her life. While the Court also declared admissible the applicant's complaint about the authorities' further failure to protect her from repeat victimisation and intimidation, it decided against a separate examination on the merits of this aspect.

The judgment is noteworthy in that it concerns a novel factual scenario: the applicant – a highly traumatised victim of rape and domestic violence – indirectly received death threats from her abuser, who, while serving his sentence, had been granted prison leave. This appears to be one of the rare cases where the Court has explicitly addressed the issue of repeat victimisation (*Y. v. Slovenia*¹¹). While focusing on the effectiveness of the domestic investigation, the Court considered it in the light of the need to protect the applicant from intimidation and repeat victimisation.

In this context, the Court reiterated the authorities' duty to take a comprehensive view of a given case as a whole, including the domestic violence to which a victim has previously been exposed (*Tunikova and Others v. Russia*¹²). The Court noted that the applicant had had to live in constant fear and uncertainty for a prolonged period of time, owing to the authorities' dismissive attitude towards her allegations. In a case such as the present one, where the authorities had been well aware of the applicant's particular vulnerability on account of her sex, ethnic origin (Roma) and past traumas, the Court emphasised that they should have reacted promptly and efficiently to her criminal complaints in order to protect her, not only from the carrying out of the alleged threat to her life, but also from intimidation and repeat victimisation.

Extradition

The judgment in *Khasanov and Rakhmanov v. Russia*¹³ concerned the scope and nature of the risk assessment in removal cases, as well as the methodology for cases brought by members of vulnerable groups allegedly exposed to systematic ill-treatment.

The applicants, nationals of Kyrgyzstan, faced extradition to that country where they were wanted on charges of aggravated misappropriation of funds (first applicant) and several counts of

^{11.} Y. v. Slovenia, no. 41107/10, § 104, ECHR 2015 (extracts). See also *Mraović v. Croatia* (no. 30373/13, § 49, 14 May 2020), which was subsequently referred to the Grand Chamber, which decided to strike it out of its list of cases (*Mraović v. Croatia* (striking out) [GC], no. 30373/13, 9 April 2021).

^{12.} Tunikova and Others v. Russia, nos. 55974/16 and 3 others, § 116, 14 December 2021.

^{13.} Khasanov and Rakhmanov v. Russia [GC], nos. 28492/15 and 49975/15, 29 April 2022.

aggravated robbery, destruction of property and murder (second applicant). The applicants complained that in the event of their extradition they would face a real risk of ill-treatment because they belonged to a vulnerable ethnic group – the Uzbek minority. These allegations were dismissed in the proceedings concerning their extradition and refugee status. The applicants' extradition was stayed on the basis of an interim measure granted by the Court under Rule 39 of the Rules of Court. In 2019, a Chamber of the Court found that there would be no violation of Article 3 if the applicants were extradited. The Grand Chamber endorsed this conclusion.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court clarified matters relating to the risk assessment under Article 3 in the context of removals, in particular: the level of scrutiny required in extradition cases; the scope of the assessment and specific methodology to be applied in cases concerning members of a targeted vulnerable group; and the nature of, and the material point in time for, such an assessment. The judgment also provided a useful summary of the Court's case-law principles in this area.

(i) The Court underlined that, in extradition cases, a Contracting State's obligation to cooperate in international criminal matters was subject to the obligation also on that State to respect the absolute nature of the prohibition under Article 3 of the Convention. Therefore, any claim of a real risk of treatment contrary to that provision must be subjected to the same level of scrutiny regardless of the legal basis for the removal.

(ii) As to the scope of the assessment in removal cases, the Court clarified that its examination is not limited to an applicant's specific claims but may cover all three groups of risks, namely: (a) those arising from the general situation in the destination country; (b) those stemming from the alleged membership of a targeted vulnerable group; and (c) those linked to the individual circumstances of the applicant.

(a) As to the general situation, regard must be had, where relevant, to whether there is a general situation of violence existing in the destination country. The existence of such a situation would not normally, in itself, entail a violation of Article 3 in the event of a removal to the country in question, unless the level of intensity of the violence was sufficient to conclude that any removal to that country would necessarily breach that provision. The Court would adopt such an approach only in the most extreme cases (*Sufi and Elmi v. the United Kingdom*¹⁴);

^{14.} Sufi and Elmi v. the United Kingdom, nos. 8319/07 and 11449/07, § 218, 28 June 2011.

(b) With regard to claims of systematic ill-treatment of members of a vulnerable group, the Court emphasised that the assessment of such claims was different from the assessment of the other two groups of risk, and explained its methodology for the examination of such cases. In the first place, the Court has to examine whether the existence of a group systematically exposed to ill-treatment, falling under the "general situation" part of the risk assessment, has been established. Applicants belonging to an allegedly targeted vulnerable group should not describe the general situation in a given country but the existence of a practice or of a heightened risk of ill-treatment for the group of which they claim to be members. As a next step, they should establish their individual membership of the group concerned, without having to demonstrate any further individual circumstances or distinguishing features (*J.K. and Others v. Sweden*¹⁵).

(c) As to the risks stemming from an applicant's individual circumstances, the Court may examine these particularly in cases where, despite a possible well-founded fear of persecution in relation to certain risk-enhancing circumstances, it cannot be established that a given group was systematically exposed to ill-treatment. In such cases, the applicants are under an obligation to demonstrate the existence of further special distinguishing features which would place them at a real risk of ill-treatment, and a failure to demonstrate such individual circumstances will lead the Court to find no violation of Article 3 of the Convention.

(iii) The Court also confirmed the material point in time for the risk assessment in cases where an applicant has not already been removed: in line with the *ex nunc* principle, it must be that of the Court's consideration of the case. A full and present-day evaluation is therefore required where it is necessary to take into account information that has come to light after the final decision by the domestic authorities was taken. The primary purpose of the *ex nunc* principle is to serve as a safeguard in cases where a significant amount of time has passed between the adoption of the domestic decision and the consideration of an applicant's Article 3 complaint by the Court and therefore where the situation in the receiving State might have developed (deteriorated or improved).

(iv) Importantly, the Court emphasised the factual nature of the risk assessment in this context and confirmed the competence of the Chambers of the Court in this respect:

^{15.} J.K. and Others v. Sweden [GC], no. 59166/12, §§ 103-05, 23 August 2016.

107. ... Any finding in such cases regarding the general situation in a given country and its dynamic as well as the finding as to the existence of a particular vulnerable group, is in its very essence a factual *ex nunc* assessment made by the Court on the basis of the material at hand.

108. ... Accordingly, any examination of whether there has been an improvement or a deterioration in the general situation in a particular country amounts to a factual assessment and it is amenable to revision by the Court in the light of changing circumstances. There is therefore nothing to preclude such a re-examination of the general situation from being carried out by a Chamber in a judgment dealing with an individual case.

(v) Applying the above principles, the Court examined the applicants' up-to-date situation against all three groups of risks and not only through the prism of their membership of an allegedly vulnerable ethnic group. In its view, the relevant material did not support a finding that the general situation in Kyrgyzstan had either deteriorated, as compared to the previous assessments, or reached a level calling for a total ban on removals to that country. Considering the situation of ethnic Uzbeks there, the Court noted its previous findings (2012-16) of a targeted and systematic practice of ill-treatment against this group. However, recent reports no longer provided a basis for such a conclusion. Turning, finally, to the applicants' individual circumstances, the Court found that they had failed to demonstrate the existence of ulterior political or ethnic motives behind their prosecution in Kyrgyzstan or further special distinguishing features which would expose them to a real risk of illtreatment. In sum, substantial grounds had not been shown for believing that the applicants would face a real risk of being subjected to treatment contrary to Article 3 in the event of their extradition to Kyrgyzstan.

The judgment in *Sanchez-Sanchez v. the United Kingdom*¹⁶ concerned the assessment of life sentences in an extradition context.

The applicant is a Mexican national currently being detained in the United Kingdom. He faces extradition to the United States of America (USA) where he is wanted on federal charges of drug dealing and trafficking. In accordance with the US Sentencing Guidelines, these offences have a sentence range of life imprisonment. The applicant appealed unsuccessfully to the High Court against his extradition.

^{16.} Sanchez-Sanchez v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 22854/20, 3 November 2022.

Before the Court, the applicant complained under Article 3 and the Grand Chamber (upon relinquishment) found that the applicant's extradition to the USA would not be in violation of this provision: the applicant had not adduced evidence showing that he ran a real risk of a sentence of life imprisonment without parole.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court clarified that the Convention compliance of a life sentence in a third country requesting extradition is not to be assessed by reference to all of the standards which apply to serving life prisoners in the Contracting States. In so far as they comprise procedural safeguards, the principles set out in *Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom*¹⁷ in respect of the domestic context are not applicable in the extradition one. The Court therefore developed an adapted approach for the latter context, comprising a two-stage test.

(i) In *Trabelsi v. Belgium*¹⁸, the Court applied the Vinter and Others criteria to an extradition context. It found that the applicant's extradition would violate Article 3 because none of the procedures provided for in the requesting State amounted to a review mechanism focused on the rehabilitation of life prisoners and requiring the national authorities to ascertain, after the passage of a certain period of time, that their continued detention could still be justified on legitimate penological grounds. In the present judgment, the Court overruled Trabelsi for the following reasons. In the first place, the Grand Chamber emphasised that Vinter and Others was not an extradition case and that it was important to distinguish the extradition and the domestic contexts: in the latter context, the applicant's legal position is known whereas the former requires a more complex risk assessment, especially where an applicant has not yet been convicted and a tentative prognosis will inevitably be characterised by a very different level of uncertainty. Secondly, the Court distinguished between two components of the Vinter and Others standard: the substantive obligation (to ensure that a life sentence does not over time become a penalty incompatible with Article 3) and the related procedural safeguards (Vinter and Others, cited above, §§ 120-22, and Murray v. the Netherlands¹⁹: the time frame, criteria and conditions for the requisite review, as well as its nature and scope). The latter are not ends in themselves but serve, in their observance by Contracting States, to avoid a breach of the former. Further, while the

^{17.} Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom [GC], nos. 66069/09 and 2 others, ECHR 2013 (extracts).

^{18.} Trabelsi v. Belgium, no. 140/10, ECHR 2014 (extracts).

^{19.} Murray v. the Netherlands [GC], no. 10511/10, §§ 99-104, 26 April 2016.

domestic system is known, it may prove unduly difficult for domestic authorities deciding on extradition requests to scrutinise the relevant law and practice of a third State to assess its degree of compliance with these procedural safeguards. Indeed, this would be an over-extensive interpretation of the responsibility of a Contracting State in such a context. Lastly, a finding of a violation of Article 3 (owing to the lack of a Convention-compliant review mechanism in the requesting State) could entail a risk that a person facing very serious charges would never stand trial. However, an identical finding in the domestic context would not undermine the legitimate penological purposes of incarceration as it would not result in early release of the life prisoner concerned. The Court concluded that the availability of the procedural safeguards afforded to serving "whole life prisoners" in the legal system of the requesting State was not a prerequisite for compliance by the sending Contracting State with Article 3. Indeed, Contracting States are not to be held responsible under the Convention for deficiencies in the safeguards in the system of a third State. While the procedural safeguards are better suited to a domestic context, the substantive guarantee, the essence of the Vinter and Others case-law, is readily transposable to the extradition context.

(ii) The Court went on to develop an adapted approach for the extradition context, which comprises two stages. As regards the first stage, the Court addressed the guestion which had not been examined in the judgment in Trabelsi: in particular, it must be established whether the applicant has adduced evidence capable of proving that there are substantial grounds for believing that, if extradited and convicted, there is a real risk of a sentence of life imprisonment without parole. In this regard, the burden is on the applicant to demonstrate that such a penalty would be imposed (López Elorza v. Spain²⁰, and Findikoglu v. Germany²¹). Such a risk will more readily be established if the applicant faces a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment. If the said risk is established under the first limb of the inquiry, the second limb will focus on the substantive guarantee of the Vinter and Others standard: the relevant authorities of the sending State must establish, prior to authorising extradition, that there exists in the requesting State a mechanism of sentence review which allows those competent authorities to consider whether any changes in the life prisoner are so significant and that such progress towards rehabilitation has been made during the sentence as to mean that continued detention can no longer be justified on legitimate penological grounds. In other words, it must

^{20.} López Elorza v. Spain, no. 30614/15, 12 December 2017.

^{21.} Findikoglu v. Germany (dec.), no. 20672/15, 7 June 2016.

be ascertained whether, as from the moment of sentencing, there is a review mechanism in place allowing the consideration of the prisoner's progress towards rehabilitation, or any other ground for release, based on his or her behaviour or other relevant personal circumstances. The Court emphasised that the prohibition of Article 3 ill-treatment remained absolute, including in the extradition context, and a distinction could not be drawn between the domestic and extraterritorial contexts as regards the minimum level of severity required to meet the Article 3 threshold.

(iii) The present judgment is also interesting as regards the manner in which the Court applied the first limb of the above test to a situation where the applicant did not face a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment. In the Court's view, he had to demonstrate that, in the event of his conviction, there existed a real risk that a sentence of life imprisonment without parole would be imposed without due consideration of all the relevant mitigating and aggravating factors (López Elorza, and Findikoglu, both cited above). While the Court took as its starting-point the assessment carried out by the national courts, it eventually examined the evidence submitted in this respect, having found the domestic findings inconclusive. The Court could not base its assessment on the likely sentence the applicant would receive if he were to plead guilty. However, it considered relevant the following factors: the sentencing statistics, the scope of the sentencing judge's discretion, the opportunity for the applicant to offer evidence regarding any mitigating factors, the sentences given to his co-conspirators, as well as the applicant's right to appeal against any sentence imposed. The Court reiterated that there were many factors that contributed to the imposition of a sentence and, prior to extradition, it was impossible to address every conceivable scenario that might arise. On the facts, the applicant had not adduced evidence of any defendants with similar records to himself who had been found guilty of similar conduct and had been sentenced to life imprisonment without parole. There was thus no need for the Court to proceed to the second stage of the new test.

The decision in *McCallum v. Italy*²² also concerned life sentences in the extradition context.

The applicant is an American national. She was a fugitive for several years, sought by the United States of America (USA) in relation to the

^{22.} McCallum v. Italy (dec.) [GC], no. 20863/21, 21 September 2022.

murder of her husband (State of Michigan). In 2020 she was arrested in Italy and the US authorities requested her extradition. The Italian courts granted the request, rejecting her argument that her extradition would be contrary to Article 3 since, if convicted, she would face life imprisonment without parole, this being the prescribed sentence for firstdegree murder under the laws of Michigan. She had also argued that the power of the State Governor to grant her early release was not sufficient to eliminate the risk as this power was a purely discretionary one. The applicant then complained under Article 3 to the Court, raising the same arguments. Under Rule 39 of the Rules of Court, the Court indicated to the Italian Government that the applicant should not be extradited for the duration of the proceedings before it. Subsequently, the US embassy in Rome informed the Italian authorities that the Prosecuting Attorney in Michigan had given a commitment to try the applicant on the lesser charge of second-degree murder. The Diplomatic Note clarified that, if convicted of this charge, the applicable penalty would be imprisonment for life, or any term of years in the court's discretion, and that in either case the applicant would be eligible for parole. The Court then lifted the Rule 39 interim measure and the applicant was extradited. The Grand Chamber (relinguishment) rejected the application as manifestly illfounded: there was no real risk of the applicant receiving an irreducible life sentence in the event of conviction on the charges now pending against her.

The Grand Chamber decision is noteworthy in two respects. In the first place, the Court confirmed its position on Diplomatic Notes set out in *Harkins and Edwards v. the United Kingdom*²³. Secondly, the Court proceeded on the basis of the distinction between the substantive obligation and the related procedural safeguards that derived from Article 3 when it came to the issue of life sentences in the extradition context, in accordance with the approach adopted in the case of *Sanchez-Sanchez v. the United Kingdom*²⁴.

(i) The Court reiterated that Diplomatic Notes carried a presumption of good faith and that, in extradition cases, it was appropriate that that presumption be applied to a requesting State which had a long history of respect for democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and which had long-standing extradition arrangements with Contracting States (Harkins and Edwards, cited above, a case concerning the USA, the same

Harkins and Edwards v. the United Kingdom, nos. 9146/07 and 32650/07, 17 January 2012.
Sanchez-Sanchez v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 22854/20, 3 November 2022 – see summary above.

requesting State as in the instant case). The Court therefore considered it justified to proceed on the basis that the applicant could now only be tried on the charges indicated in the Diplomatic Note and specified in the new extradition decree issued by the Italian Minister of Justice. Further, referring to Article 26 of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, the Court observed that if, following her extradition, the original charges against the applicant were to be revived, that would not be compatible with the duty of good faith performance of treaty obligations. It also took note of the Italian Government's position that, under the applicable bilateral treaty, the USA was bound to respect its undertaking.

(ii) The Court noted that the applicant faced at most the prospect of life imprisonment with eligibility for parole, if convicted of the reduced charges. However, she had submitted that such a sentence had to be regarded as "irreducible" within the meaning of the Court's case-law, on account of the role of the Governor of Michigan in the parole system in that State, which she argued was a decisive one. The Court observed that this argument related to the issue of procedural safeguards, and not to the substantive obligation, which was the essence of the Vinter and Others standard (*Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom*²⁵). However, as stipulated in *Sanchez-Sanchez* (cited above), the availability of procedural safeguards for "whole life prisoners" in the legal system of the requesting State was not a prerequisite for compliance by the requested Contracting State with Article 3 of the Convention.

In any event, having taken note of the relevant legislative provisions, the Court was not persuaded that the applicant's understanding of the Michigan system was correct. As provided in Michigan Compiled Laws, a prisoner's release on parole was at the discretion of the parole board. While the Governor of Michigan did indeed enjoy a broad power of executive clemency, he or she was not involved in the parole procedure. Nor did the relevant legal provisions empower the Governor to overrule the grant of parole to a prisoner. An appeal against the grant of parole lay to the competent circuit court.

The Court further reiterated that an applicant who alleged that their extradition would expose them to a risk of a sentence that would constitute inhuman or degrading punishment bore the burden of proving the reality of that risk (*Sanchez-Sanchez*, cited above). In the instant case, the applicant had not discharged that burden.

^{25.} Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom [GC], nos. 66069/09 and 2 others, ECHR 2013 (extracts).

PROCEDURAL RIGHTS

Right to a fair hearing in civil proceedings (Article 6 § 1)

Applicability

The judgment in *Grzęda v. Poland*²⁶ concerned the applicability of Article 6 § 1 to the premature termination, following a legislative reform, of a judge's term of office as a member of the National Council of the Judiciary (NCJ).

The applicant is a judge of the Supreme Administrative Court. In 2016, he was elected by an assembly of judges for a four-year term as a member of the NCJ. Subsequently, and in the context of wide-scale judicial reform, the relevant legislation was amended to the effect that judicial members of the NCJ were to be elected by Parliament (the *Sejm*), that is, no longer by judges, and that the terms of office of the NCJ's judicial members elected on the basis of the previous provisions would continue until the beginning of the term of office of its new members. In 2018 the *Sejm* elected fifteen new members of the NCJ and the applicant's term of office was therefore prematurely terminated *ex lege*.

The applicant complained that he had been denied access to a court to contest this measure. The Grand Chamber considered that, at the time of his election, there had been in domestic law an arguable right for a judge elected to the NCJ to serve a full term of office and the new legislation constituted the object of a genuine and serious dispute over that right. Further, applying the test developed in *Vilho Eskelinen and Others v. Finland*²⁷, the Grand Chamber left open the first condition (whether domestic law expressly excluded access to a court) since, in any event, its second condition had not been met: such an exclusion could not be justified on objective grounds in the State's interest. Article 6 § 1 was therefore applicable under its civil head.

The judgment is noteworthy in that the Court considered a novel issue: the applicability of Article 6 § 1 to a dispute arising out of the premature termination of the term of office of a member of a judicial council while he still remained a serving judge. In doing so, the Court developed the first condition of the Vilho Eskelinen test and, as regards the second condition, the Court clarified the relevance of considerations relating to judicial independence where a case concerns not a judge's

^{26.} Grzęda v. Poland [GC], no. 43572/18, 15 March 2022.

^{27.} Vilho Eskelinen and Others v. Finland [GC], no. 63235/00, ECHR 2007-II.

principal professional activity (adjudicating role), but other official functions (such as membership of a judicial council).

(i) Regarding the first condition of the Vilho Eskelinen test, the Court noted that it was deliberately strict and was satisfied only in very rare cases where domestic law contained an explicit exclusion of access to a court. As the two conditions of the test are cumulative, where the first one is not met, that suffices to find Article 6 applicable, without considering the second one. The Court, however, considered that a straightforward application of the first condition would not be entirely suitable in all situations. It was therefore prepared to accept that it could be regarded as fulfilled where, even without an express provision to this effect, it had been clearly shown that domestic law excluded access to a court for the type of dispute concerned: in other words, where the exclusion in question was of an implicit nature, in particular where it stemmed from a systemic interpretation of the applicable legal framework or the whole body of legal regulation.

(ii) The Court also clarified the factors relevant for the second condition of the Vilho Eskelinen test. In the first place, for national legislation excluding access to a court to have any effect under Article 6 § 1 in a particular case, it must be compatible with the rule of law. This means that such an exclusion must, in principle, be based on an instrument of general application, rather than target specific persons (in the instant case, judicial members of the NCJ elected under the previous regulation). Secondly, where the dispute in issue concerns a judge, due account must be taken of the necessity to safeguard the independence of the judiciary, which is a prerequisite for the proper functioning of the Convention system and the upholding of the rule of law. In this connection, the Court clarified that judicial independence had to be understood in an inclusive manner and apply not only to a judge in his or her adjudicating role, but also to his or her other official functions that were closely connected with the judicial system. Considering specifically a judge's membership in a judicial council, the Court attached weight to the role of such a body (responsible for the selection of judges) in safeguarding judicial independence. For a judicial council to be able to perform this role, the State's authorities should be under an obligation to ensure its independence from the executive and legislative powers in order to safeguard the integrity of the judicial appointment process. However, the removal, or threat of removal, of a council's judicial member during his or her term of office has the potential to adversely affect his or her personal independence and, by extension, the council's mission. In this regard, the Court reiterated its case-law concerning the

special role in society of the judiciary as the guarantor of justice. Just as this consideration weighed heavily in cases concerning access to a court for judges in matters concerning their status or career (Gumenvuk and Others v. Ukraine²⁸, and Bilgen v. Turkey²⁹), the Court considered it should also apply as regards the tenure of judges, such as the applicant, who were elected to serve on judicial councils, in view of the particular role played by the latter. As concerns the NCJ, the Court observed that its independence had been undermined as a result of the fundamental change in the manner of electing its judicial members (by the Sejm instead of by the assemblies of judges), considered jointly with the early termination of the terms of office of the previous judicial members. It followed that the applicant's exclusion from access to a court to assert an arguable civil right closely connected with the protection of judicial independence could not be justified on objective grounds in the interest of a State governed by the rule of law. Article 6 § 1 was therefore applicable.

Access to a court

The judgment in *Grzęda v. Poland*³⁰ concerned the premature termination, following a legislative reform, of a judge's term of office as a member of the National Council of the Judiciary.

The applicant complained that he had been denied access to a court to contest this measure. The Grand Chamber found that the lack of judicial review had impaired the very essence of the applicant's right of access to a court, in breach of Article 6 § 1.

The Court considered that procedural safeguards, similar to those that should be available in cases of dismissal or removal of judges, should likewise be available where a judge was removed from his position as a member of a judicial council. In assessing any justification for excluding access to a court with regard to membership of judicial governance bodies, it was necessary to take into account the strong public interest in upholding the independence of the judiciary and the rule of law. In this connection, the Court had regard to the overall context of the reforms of the judicial system, starting with the grave irregularities in the election of judges to the Constitutional Court in 2015, then the remodelling of the NCJ and the setting-up of new chambers in the Supreme Court, extending the Minister of Justice's control over the courts and increasing his role in matters of judicial discipline. Referring to prior judgments

^{28.} Gumenyuk and Others v. Ukraine, no. 11423/19, 22 July 2021.

^{29.} Bilgen v. Turkey, no. 1571/07, 9 March 2021.

^{30.} Grzęda v. Poland [GC], no. 43572/18, 15 March 2022.

(Xero Flor w Polsce sp. z o.o. v. Poland³¹; Reczkowicz v. Poland³²; Dolińska-Ficek and Ozimek v. Poland³³; and Broda and Bojara v. Poland³⁴), relevant analysis by the Court of Justice of the European Union, the Polish Supreme Court and the Supreme Administrative Court, the Court found that, as a result, the judiciary had been exposed to interference by the executive and legislative powers, and its independence and adherence to rule-of-law standards had been substantially weakened. While the present case involved a number of domestic constitutional issues, the Court emphasised that, under the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, a State could not invoke its domestic law, including the Constitution, as justification for its failure to respect its international-law commitments and to comply with the rule of law.

Right to a fair hearing in criminal proceedings (Article 6 § 1)

Fairness of the proceedings

The judgment in *Vegotex International S.A. v. Belgium*³⁵ concerned the assessment of the compelling nature of the grounds for the intervention of the legislature which influenced the judicial outcome of a dispute in a tax-related case.

The tax authorities corrected a tax return filed by the applicant company and applied a penalty on the amount due. The applicant brought proceedings to challenge this decision. In 2000 the tax authorities issued a summons to pay which, in accordance with standard administrative practice, served to interrupt the limitation period before the tax debt became time-barred. While the applicant's case was pending at first instance, the Court of Cassation ruled against this practice and adopted new case-law (on 10 October 2002) with retroactive effect which resulted in the limitation period not being interrupted and in the tax debt possibly becoming time-barred. In 2004, while the applicant's case was pending on appeal, the legislature intervened to reverse this development and to restore the previous administrative practice by means of a law³⁶ that was immediately applicable to pending proceedings. This law was then

^{31.} Xero Flor w Polsce sp. z o.o. v. Poland, no. 4907/18, 7 May 2021.

^{32.} Reczkowicz v. Poland, no. 43447/19, 22 July 2021.

^{33.} Dolińska-Ficek and Ozimek v. Poland, nos. 49868/19 and 57511/19, 8 November 2021.

^{34.} Broda and Bojara v. Poland, nos. 26691/18 and 27367/18, 29 June 2021.

^{35.} Vegotex International S.A. v. Belgium [GC], no. 49812/09, 3 November 2022.

^{36.} The Miscellaneous Provisions Act of 9 July 2004, section 49 in fine.

applied to the applicant's case by the Court of Cassation. The domestic courts eventually upheld the 50% surcharge in respect of one part of the tax imposed and, with regard to the remainder, reduced the surcharge to 10% of the tax deemed to be payable.

The applicant company complained under Article 6 § 1. In 2020, a Chamber of the Court found no violation of this provision as the legislature's intervention in the proceedings had been driven by compelling grounds of general interest. Upon referral, the Grand Chamber endorsed this conclusion.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in two respects. In the first place, the Court clarified the criteria for assessing the relevance and the compelling nature of general-interest grounds which are advanced to justify the use of retrospective legislation designed to influence the judicial determination of a dispute to which the State is a party. Secondly, the judgment highlights the specificity of such an assessment in a case where the guarantees of Article 6 do not apply with their full stringency, such as a tax-related case which differs from the hard core of criminal law.

(i) When examining the relevance of the general-interest grounds advanced by the respondent Government, the Court observed as follows. In the first place, while the State's financial interests alone do not, in principle, justify the retrospective application of legislation, the Court did not exclude the relevance of the question of whether the financial stability of the State was threatened (however, no such threat was apparent in the present case). Secondly, by their nature, legislative initiatives regulate situations in general and abstract terms, such that the reasons that motivated the legislature do not lose their legitimacy merely because they may not be relevant in respect of each of the persons potentially affected. Thirdly, the Court confirmed that in a State governed by the rule of law, the legislature could amend legislation in order to correct an interpretation of the law given by the judiciary, subject however to compliance with the legal rules and principles which were binding even on the legislature. In this connection, the Court referred to its well-established case-law principles concerning interference by the legislature with the administration of justice (Zielinski and Pradal and Gonzalez and Others v. France³⁷, and Scoppola v. Italy (no. 2)³⁸) and confirmed their applicability in a tax-related case. The Court further observed that, in exceptional circumstances, retrospective

^{37.} Zielinski and Pradal and Gonzalez and Others v. France [GC], nos. 24846/94 and 9 others, ECHR 1999-VII.

^{38.} Scoppola v. Italy (no. 2) [GC], no. 10249/03, 17 September 2009.

legislation might be justified, especially in order to interpret or clarify an older legislative provision (*Hôpital local Saint-Pierre d'Oléron and Others v. France*³⁹), to fill a legal vacuum (*OGIS-Institut Stanislas, OGEC Saint-Pie X and Blanche de Castille and Others v. France*⁴⁰) or to offset the effects of a new line of case-law (*National & Provincial Building Society, Leeds Permanent Building Society and Yorkshire Building Society v. the United Kingdom*⁴¹). In the present case, the Court accepted as relevant the objectives of combating large-scale tax fraud, avoiding arbitrary discrimination between taxpayers and restoring legal certainty by offsetting the effects of the relevant judgment of the Court of Cassation and re-establishing the settled administrative practice.

(ii) The Court went on to assess the compelling nature of the above relevant grounds. It noted that it would consider them as a whole and on the basis of the following criteria:

(a) Whether or not the line of case-law overturned by the legislative intervention in question had been settled. In its judgment of 10 October 2002, the Court of Cassation had ruled for the first time on the specific issue of whether the demand for payment had interrupted the limitation period in a valid manner. Its position did not correspond to the settled administrative practice, reflected in the predominant case-law of the lower courts in the matter. This judgment had not only a significant impact on cases in which the tax assessment had been disputed, but also a retrospective effect on all the pending proceedings concerned (the Court of Cassation not being empowered to limit the temporal effects of its judgments).

(b) The manner and timing of the enactment of the legislation. Shortly after the delivery of the impugned judgment, the legislature clearly signalled its intention not to allow its effects to continue over time and enacted the legislation relatively quickly to this end (over a year and a half thereafter).

(c) The foreseeability of the legislature's intervention. The Court observed at the outset that limitation periods served the purpose of ensuring legal certainty, as did the principle of the non-retroactivity of criminal law. In the Court's view, the legislature's intervention had sought to restore, rather than to undermine, legal certainty by re-establishing

^{39.} Hôpital local Saint-Pierre d'Oléron and Others v. France, nos. 18096/12 and 20 others, 8 November 2018.

^{40.} OGIS-Institut Stanislas, OGEC Saint-Pie X and Blanche de Castille and Others v. France, nos. 42219/98 and 54563/00, 27 May 2004.

^{41.} National & Provincial Building Society, Leeds Permanent Building Society and Yorkshire Building Society v. the United Kingdom, 23 October 1997, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1997-VII.

the previous well-settled practice. This practice, which resulted in the interruption of the limitation period, was followed in the applicant company's case. The legislature's intervention could not therefore be said to have put an end to any legitimate expectation as to the limitation period that existed when the applicant had commenced proceedings. As regards the unexpected development in the case-law of the Court of Cassation, it could not have had binding force for the legislature. It could thus have given rise to a hope, rather than an expectation, to benefit from the resulting "windfall".

(d) The scope of the legislation and its effects. The Court has recently held that the revival of criminal responsibility after the expiry of a limitation period was incompatible with the overarching principles of legality and foreseeability enshrined in Article 7 (Advisory opinion on the applicability of statutes of limitation to prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture⁴²). Nevertheless, the Grand Chamber distinguished the present case from the situation described in the above advisory opinion, even though the legislature's intervention had made it possible to continue with a "prosecution". While the limitation period could have been considered to have expired following the unexpected development in the case-law of the Court of Cassation, that fact had not yet been established by a judicial decision, still less one with res judicata effect. Furthermore, unlike in Antia and Khupenia v. Georgia⁴³, the limitation period had not expired either when the tax surcharge was imposed, or when the applicant had challenged it in the court of first instance. Lastly, the present case did not concern Article 7, but Article 6, and the latter's guarantees would not necessarily apply with their full stringency in a tax-related case.

In sum, the legislature's intervention had been foreseeable and justified on compelling grounds of general interest.

The judgment in *De Legé v. the Netherlands*⁴⁴ concerned the privilege against self-incrimination in the context of the proceedings for the imposition of a tax fine.

On the basis of information obtained from their Belgian counterparts on bank accounts held by residents of the Netherlands with a bank

^{42.} Advisory opinion on the applicability of statutes of limitation to prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture [GC], request no. P16-2021-001, Armenian Court of Cassation, 26 April 2022.

^{43.} Antia and Khupenia v. Georgia, no. 7523/10, 18 June 2020.

^{44.} De Legé v. the Netherlands, no. 58342/15, 4 October 2022 (not final).

("the Bank") in Luxembourg, the Dutch Tax and Customs Administration identified the applicant as an account holder. The Tax Inspector then requested the applicant to declare any foreign bank accounts held during a certain period of time and to submit copies of all relevant bank statements. The applicant, however, invoked the privilege against self-incrimination informing them that "in the given circumstances" the request for information would not be complied with. The Tax Inspector then issued the relevant tax adjustments and imposed tax fines. The applicant's objections thereto were dismissed, as were his appeals. In the meantime, in intervening civil summary injunction proceedings, pending which the objection proceedings were adjourned, the provisional measures judge ordered the applicant, on pain of penalty payments, to disclose all information concerning bank accounts held abroad and to provide the required documents. In compliance with this order, the applicant submitted two forms indicating that he had held a bank account at the Bank in Luxembourg as well as bank statements and portfolio summaries relating to that account.

The applicant complained about a breach of his right to protection against self-incrimination and the Court found no violation of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention.

The judgment is noteworthy because the Court clarified the nature and scope of the privilege against self-incrimination concerning, in particular, coercion used to obtain documents for tax proceedings in which fines were imposed on an applicant.

On the basis of a comprehensive overview of its case-law, the Court devised the following approach to be applied in this context:

– In order for an issue to arise from the perspective of the privilege against self-incrimination: (a) there must be some form of coercion or compulsion exerted on the person concerned; and (b) the person must be subject to existing or anticipated criminal proceedings – that is to say, a "criminal charge" within the autonomous meaning of Article 6 § 1 –, or incriminating information compulsorily obtained outside the context of criminal proceedings is used in a subsequent criminal prosecution. These are the two prerequisites for the applicability of the privilege against self-incrimination (see, for instance, *Eklund v. Finland*⁴⁵).

– Where these prerequisites are met, it is necessary to determine whether the use of evidence obtained by coercion/compulsion should nevertheless be considered as falling outside the scope of protection of the privilege against self-incrimination. When methods of coercion

^{45.} Eklund v. Finland (dec.), no. 56936/13, § 51, 8 December 2015.

are used with the aim of having an accused person answer questions or make testimonial statements, either orally or in writing, the privilege against self-incrimination applies. The privilege does not, however, extend to the use in criminal proceedings of materials obtained from an accused, through methods of coercion, when these materials have an existence independent of his or her will (the Saunders exception, *Saunders v. the United Kingdom*⁴⁶).

– In this connection, where the use of documentary evidence obtained under threat of penalties is concerned, such use does not fall within the scope of protection of the privilege against self-incrimination where the authorities are able to show that the compulsion is aimed at obtaining specific pre-existing documents – namely, documents that have not been created as a result of the very compulsion for the purpose of the criminal proceedings – which documents are relevant for the investigation in question and of whose existence those authorities are aware. This excludes "fishing expeditions" by the authorities (see, for instance, *Funke v. France*⁴⁷).

- However, regardless of whether or not the authorities are aware of the existence of documentary or other material evidence, if this has been obtained by methods in breach of Article 3 of the Convention, its use will always fall within the scope of the privilege against self-incrimination (*Jalloh v. Germany*⁴⁸).

– Finally, if the prerequisites for the applicability of the privilege against self-incrimination are met, and the use of evidence obtained through coercion or compulsion falls within the scope of protection of that privilege, it is necessary to examine whether the procedure extinguished the "very essence" of the privilege, that is to say, to determine the manner in which the overall fairness of the proceedings was affected. For this purpose, it will be necessary to have regard, in turn, to the following factors: the nature and degree of compulsion used to obtain the evidence; the existence of any relevant safeguards in the procedure; and the use to which any material so obtained is put (*O'Halloran and Francis v. the United Kingdom*⁴⁹).

On the facts of the case, the Court found that the two prerequisites for the applicability of the privilege against self-incrimination were met:

^{46.} Saunders v. the United Kingdom, 17 December 1996, § 69, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1996-VI.

^{47.} Funke v. France, 25 February 1993, § 44, Series A no. 256-A.

^{48.} Jalloh v. Germany [GC], no. 54810/00, ECHR 2006-IX.

^{49.} O'Halloran and Francis v. the United Kingdom [GC], nos. 15809/02 and 25624/02, § 55, ECHR 2007-III.

the applicant was required to provide the bank documents on pain of penalties, and those documents were relevant for the proceedings imposing a tax fine on the applicant. However, they were pre-existing documents and the authorities were aware of their existence. Moreover, no issue of Article 3 of the Convention arose in the present case. The compulsion in question did not therefore fall within the scope of protection of the privilege against self-incrimination. This was sufficient for the Convention no violation of Article 6 § 1 of the Convention.

Other rights in criminal proceedings

No punishment without law (Article 7)

In response to the request submitted by the Armenian Court of Cassation under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion⁵⁰ on 26 April 2022, which concerned the applicability of statutes of limitation to the prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture.

In Virabyan v. Armenia⁵¹, the Court found that the applicant had been subjected to torture and that the authorities had failed to carry out an effective investigation, in violation of Article 3. In the context of the supervision of the execution of this judgment by the Committee of Ministers under Article 46 § 2 (not as yet closed), new criminal proceedings were instituted and charges were brought against the police officers implicated in Mr Virabyan's ill-treatment (Article 309 § 2 of the Criminal Code). The trial court found that the defendants had committed an offence under that provision, but held that they were exempt from criminal responsibility by virtue of the ten-year limitation period provided in Article 75 § 1 (3) of the Criminal Code, which had expired in 2014. This decision was upheld by the Court of Appeal. The prosecutor lodged an appeal on points of law with the Court of Cassation, seeking for it to determine whether the ten-year limitation period was applicable or whether the proceedings in issue were covered by the exception set out in Article 75 § 6 of the Criminal Code, according to which no limitation period could apply to certain types of offences (crimes against peace and humanity or those for which international

^{50.} Advisory opinion on the applicability of statutes of limitation to the prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture [GC], request no. P16-2021-001, Armenian Court of Cassation, 26 April 2022. See also under Article 1 of Protocol No. 16 (Advisory opinions) below.

^{51.} Virabyan v. Armenia, no. 40094/05, 2 October 2012.

treaties to which Armenia is a Party prohibit the application of limitation periods).

In this context, the Court of Cassation requested the Court to give an advisory opinion on the following question:

Would non-application of statutes of limitation for criminal responsibility for torture or any other crimes equated thereto by invoking the international law sources be compliant with Article 7 of the European Convention, if the domestic law provides for no requirement for non-application of statutes of limitation for criminal responsibility?

(i) In this, its fourth, advisory opinion under Protocol No. 16, the Court provided a useful summary of its case-law relating to limitation periods under Article 3 of the Convention. The Court reiterated, in particular, that the prohibition of torture had achieved the status of jus cogens or a peremptory norm in international law (Al-Adsaniv. the United Kingdom⁵²). In cases concerning torture or ill-treatment inflicted by State agents, criminal proceedings ought not to be discontinued on account of a limitation period and the manner in which the limitation period is applied has to be compatible with the requirements of the Convention. It is thus difficult to accept inflexible limitation periods admitting of no exceptions (Mocanu and Others v. Romania⁵³). Moreover, the Court observed that it had found a violation of the procedural aspect of Article 3 in cases where the application of limitation periods had been caused by the failure of the authorities to act promptly and with due diligence; in cases where prosecutions had become time-barred owing to the inadequate characterisation by the domestic authorities of acts of torture or other forms of ill-treatment as less serious offences, leading to shorter limitation periods and allowing the perpetrator to escape criminal responsibility; and on account, chiefly, of the absence of appropriate provisions in the national law capable of adequately punishing acts amounting to torture. In that connection, the Court has already held that the fact that the offences in question were subject to a statute of limitations was "a circumstance which in itself [sat] uneasily with its case-law concerning torture or other ill-treatment".

(ii) Furthermore, the Court addressed the issue of possible conflict between the States' positive obligations under Article 3 and the

^{52.} Al-Adsani v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 35763/97, §§ 60-61, ECHR 2001-XI.

^{53.} Mocanu and Others v. Romania [GC], nos. 10865/09 and 2 others, § 326, ECHR 2014 (extracts).

guarantees provided for in Article 7, notably in the process of the execution of its judgments. The Court confirmed its usual approach whereby it would be unacceptable for national authorities to compensate for the failure to discharge their positive obligations under Article 3 at the expense of the guarantees of Article 7, one of which was that the criminal law must not be construed extensively to an accused's detriment (*Kononov v. Latvia*⁵⁴, and *Del Río Prada v. Spain*⁵⁵). In particular, and for the purposes of the present advisory opinion, the Court noted that it did not follow from the current state of the Court's case-law that a Contracting Party was required under the Convention not to apply an applicable limitation period and thereby effectively to revive an expired limitation period.

In this connection, the Court reiterated that, in the context of the reopening of proceedings, there might be situations where it was *de jure* or *de facto* impossible to reopen criminal investigations into the incidents giving rise to the applications being examined by the Court. Such situations may arise, for example, in cases in which the alleged perpetrators were acquitted and could not be put on trial for the same offence (which would be in conflict with the *ne bis in idem* principle set out in Article 4 of Protocol No. 7), or in cases in which the criminal proceedings had become time-barred on account of the statute of limitations set out in the national legislation. Indeed, the reopening of criminal proceedings that had been terminated on account of the expiry of the limitation period may raise issues concerning legal certainty and may thus have a bearing on a defendant's rights under Article 7 (*Taşdemir v. Turkey*⁵⁶).

(iii) The Court went on to clarify whether the revival of a prosecution in respect of a criminal offence which is time-barred is compatible with the guarantees enshrined in Article 7 of the Convention. To this end, the Court provided a summary of its case-law concerning the requirements of legal certainty and foreseeability under this provision. It also reiterated the purposes served by limitation periods, in particular, ensuring legal certainty and finality and preventing infringements of the rights of defendants, which might be impaired if courts were required to decide on the basis of evidence which might have become incomplete because of the passage of time (*Coëme and Others v. Belgium*⁵⁷). The Court further

^{54.} Kononov v. Latvia [GC], no. 36376/04, § 185, ECHR 2010.

^{55.} Del Río Prada v. Spain [GC], no. 42750/09, § 78, ECHR 2013.

^{56.} Taşdemir v. Turkey (dec.), no. 52538/09, § 14, 12 March 2019.

^{57.} Coëme and Others v. Belgium, nos. 32492/96 and 4 others, § 146, ECHR 2000-VII.
deduced from the relevant case-law that where criminal responsibility had been revived after the expiry of a limitation period, it would be deemed incompatible with the overarching principles of legality (*nullum crimen, nulla poena sine lege*) and foreseeability enshrined in Article 7 (*Antia and Khupenia v. Georgia*⁵⁸). On this basis, the Court concluded that

where a criminal offence under domestic law was subject to a statute of limitations and became time-barred so as to exclude criminal responsibility, Article 7 would preclude the revival of a prosecution in respect of such an offence on account of the absence of a valid legal basis. To hold otherwise would be tantamount to accepting "the retrospective application of the criminal law to an accused's disadvantage".

(iv) In the present context, the Court was presented with a situation where the requesting court had to determine whether to apply a tenyear limitation period (Article 75 § 1 (3) of the Criminal Code) or an exception whereby no limitation period was to apply, in particular, to certain types of offences envisaged by international treaties (Article 75 § 6 of the Criminal Code). In other words, the Court was asked to clarify whether it would be compatible with the defendants' rights under Article 7 if the domestic courts were to refrain from applying the limitation period applicable in their case pursuant to the international rules, including Article 3 of the Convention, relating to the prohibition of torture and other forms of ill-treatment and the requirement to punish such acts. The question so framed implicitly recognises the hierarchy of laws in the Armenian domestic system as enunciated particularly in Article 5 § 3 of the Armenian Constitution, which stipulates that, in the event of a conflict between international treaties ratified by Armenia and Armenian laws, the provisions of the international treaties are to apply. Relying on the principle of subsidiarity, the Court replied as follows:

[I]t is first and foremost for the national court to determine, within the context of its domestic constitutional and criminal-law rules, whether rules of international law having legal force in the national legal system, in the present instance pursuant to Article 5 § 3 of the Constitution ..., could provide for a sufficiently clear and foreseeable legal basis within the meaning of Article 7 of the Convention to conclude that the criminal offence in question is not subject to a statute of limitations.

^{58.} Antia and Khupenia v. Georgia, no. 7523/10, §§ 38-43, 18 June 2020.

The judgment in *Kupinskyy v. Ukraine*⁵⁹ concerned the applicability of Article 7 to the conversion, upon a prisoner's transfer, of a foreign reducible life sentence into a *de facto* irreducible one.

In 2002, the applicant, a Ukrainian national, was sentenced in Hungary to life imprisonment with the possibility of seeking release on parole after serving twenty years. In 2007 he was transferred to Ukraine to serve his sentence. The Ukrainian courts recognised the sentence imposed by the Hungarian courts. From 2016 to 2021 the Ukrainian courts refused several requests for release on parole on the ground that the applicant was serving his sentence in accordance with Ukrainian legislation which did not provide for release on parole for life prisoners. The applicant appealed unsuccessfully. In September 2021, the Constitutional Court of Ukraine declared the Criminal Code provision concerning release on parole unconstitutional in so far as it did not apply to life prisoners.

The applicant complained under Articles 3 and 7. The Court found a violation of Article 3, applying its reasoning in *Petukhov v. Ukraine (no. 2)*⁶⁰. The applicant's situation had not changed with the judgment of the Constitutional Court because the relevant rules to implement the release on parole of life prisoners had not been established. The Court also found a violation of Article 7: by denying the applicant the real possibility of seeking release on parole, the domestic authorities had converted his original reducible sentence into a *de facto* and *de jure* irreducible life sentence and had, therefore, changed the scope of the original punishment to the applicant's detriment, by imposing a heavier penalty.

The judgment is noteworthy in that the Court clarified that Article 7 was applicable in a case where a foreign reducible life sentence was converted, upon a prisoner's transfer, into an irreducible one by the authorities of the administering State. In the Court's view, such a conversion amounted to a significant change of the scope of the imposed "penalty" going well beyond a mere measure of the "execution" or "enforcement" of a "penalty" which would not attract the applicability of Article 7 (*Del Río Prada v. Spain*⁶¹).

The Court has constantly held that a change in a regime for release on parole, either in the domestic context or as a result of the transfer of prisoners, belongs exclusively within the domain of the execution of a sentence, thereby excluding the application of Article 7 (*Kafkaris v.*

^{59.} Kupinskyy v. Ukraine, no. 5084/18, 10 November 2022 (not final).

^{60.} Petukhov v. Ukraine (no. 2), no. 41216/13, 12 March 2019.

^{61.} Del Río Prada v. Spain [GC], no. 42750/09, §§ 83 and 89, ECHR 2013.

*Cyprus*⁶²; *Grava v. Italy*⁶³; and *Ciok v. Poland*⁶⁴). In particular, in the context of the transfer of prisoners, the Court has confirmed this approach where the prospects of release on parole were less favourable, or the relevant rules were stricter, in the administering State than in the sentencing State (*Szabó v. Sweden*⁶⁵; *Csoszánszki v. Sweden*⁶⁶; and *Müller v. the Czech Republic*⁶⁷).

However, unlike the above-noted cases, which concerned the terms for granting parole in the State to which the prisoner had been transferred, the instant case raised an issue concerning the unavailability of parole as a matter of law in the State concerned.

The crucial point in the Court's analysis was whether the sentences imposed by a foreign trial court and imposed as a result of the conversion by the administering State differed as to their scope.

In this connection, the Court reiterated the principle set out in *Del Rio Prada* (cited above, § 89) to the effect that Article 7 § 1 would be deprived of any useful effect if its guarantees did not extend to the measures redefining or modifying the scope of a sentence imposed by the trial court, *ex post facto* and to the detriment of the convicted person.

The Court considered that irreducible and reducible life sentences differed as to their scope. The difference had been significant enough for this Court to find the former sentence incompatible with the requirements of the Convention (*Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom*⁶⁸, and *Petukhov (no. 2)*, cited above), and the latter sentence compatible (*Hutchinson v. the United Kingdom*⁶⁹). Such distinction reinforces the importance of the ground of rehabilitation, which is central to European penal policy.

The Court further observed that, while the Hungarian legislation differentiated between, and provided for both, reducible and irreducible life sentences, the Hungarian courts had explicitly decided to impose on the present applicant a reducible life sentence and not an irreducible one. Upon the applicant's transfer to Ukraine, the manner in which his penalty had been converted ultimately modified the scope thereof, resulting in a change of regime to parole not being available at all.

^{62.} Kafkaris v. Cyprus [GC], no. 21906/04, § 142, ECHR 2008.

^{63.} Grava v. Italy, no. 43522/98, § 51, 10 July 2003.

^{64.} Ciok v. Poland (dec.), no. 498/10, § 34, 23 October 2012.

^{65.} Szabó v. Sweden (dec.), no. 28578/03, ECHR 2006-VIII.

^{66.} Csoszánszki v. Sweden (dec.), no. 22318/02, 27 June 2006.

^{67.} Müller v. the Czech Republic (dec.), no. 48058/09, 6 September 2011.

^{68.} Vinter and Others v. the United Kingdom [GC], nos. 66069/09 and 2 others, ECHR 2013 (extracts).

^{69.} Hutchinson v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 57592/08, 17 January 2017.

Article 7 was therefore found to be applicable in the present case (and, as noted above, to have been violated).

OTHER RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS

Right to respect for one's private and family life, home and correspondence (Article 8)

Applicability

The judgment in *Darboe and Camara v. Italy*⁷⁰ concerned the applicability of Article 8 to age-assessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection and claiming to be children.

The case concerned the procedural rights of a migrant requesting international protection and claiming to be a minor, in particular in respect of the procedure for determining his or her age. The applicant submitted that he had declared the fact that he was a minor and orally expressed his intention to apply for international protection shortly after his arrival in Italy. He was provided with a healthcare card by the local health authority, indicating a date of birth according to which he was 17 years of age. After his initial placement in a centre for foreign unaccompanied children, the applicant was transferred to a reception centre for adults. A month later an X-ray examination of his wrist and hand was carried out, based on which the applicant was considered to be an adult. Following a request by the applicant and an exchange of submissions, the Court indicated to the Government, under Rule 39 of the Rules of Court, to transfer the applicant to facilities where his reception conditions as an unaccompanied minor could be ensured: he was transferred thereto four days later.

The applicant complained under Articles 3, 8 and 13 of the Convention.

The Court found, in the first place, a violation of Article 8 on account of the authorities' failure to act with the necessary diligence to comply with their positive obligation to protect the applicant as an unaccompanied minor requesting international protection. Secondly, the Court found a violation of Article 3 on account of the length and conditions of the applicant's stay in the reception centre for adults. Thirdly, the Court found a violation of Article 13 (in conjunction with Articles 3 and 8), since the applicant had not been afforded an effective remedy under

^{70.} Darboe and Camara v. Italy, no. 5797/17, 21 July 2022.

Italian law by which to lodge his complaints under Articles 3 and 8 of the Convention.

The judgment is noteworthy in that it is the first time that the Court has examined, under Article 8 of the Convention, a complaint about ageassessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection and claiming to be minors.

As regards the applicability of Article 8 the Court considered that the age of a person was a means of personal identification and that the procedure to assess the age of an individual alleging to be a minor, including its procedural safeguards, was essential in order to guarantee to him or her all the rights deriving from his or her status as a minor. It also emphasised the importance of age-assessment procedures in the migration context. Determining whether an individual was a minor was the first step to recognising his or her rights and putting into place all the necessary care arrangements. If a minor were wrongly identified as an adult, serious measures in breach of his or her rights might be taken.

Positive obligations

The judgment in *Darboe and Camara v. Italy*⁷¹ concerned the procedural rights of a migrant requesting international protection and claiming to be a minor, in particular in respect of the procedure for determining his or her age.

The applicant submitted that he had declared the fact that he was a minor and orally expressed his intention to apply for international protection shortly after his arrival in Italy. He was provided with a healthcare card by the local health authority, indicating a date of birth according to which he was 17 years of age. After his initial placement in a centre for foreign unaccompanied children, the applicant was transferred to a reception centre for adults. A month later an X-ray examination of his wrist and hand was carried out, based on which the applicant was considered to be an adult. Following a request by the applicant and an exchange of submissions, the Court indicated to the Government, under Rule 39 of the Rules of Court, to transfer the applicant to facilities where his reception conditions as an unaccompanied minor could be ensured: he was transferred thereto four days later.

The applicant complained under Articles 3, 8 and 13 of the Convention.

The Court found, in the first place, a violation of Article 8 on account of the authorities' failure to act with the necessary diligence to comply with

^{71.} Darboe and Camara v. Italy, no. 5797/17, 21 July 2022.

their positive obligation to protect the applicant as an unaccompanied minor requesting international protection. Secondly, the Court found a violation of Article 3 on account of the length and conditions of the applicant's stay in the reception centre for adults. Thirdly, the Court found a violation of Article 13 (in conjunction with Articles 3 and 8), since the applicant had not been afforded an effective remedy under Italian law by which to lodge his complaints under Articles 3 and 8 of the Convention.

The judgment is noteworthy in that it is the first time that the Court has examined, under Article 8 of the Convention, a complaint about ageassessment procedures for migrants requesting international protection and claiming to be minors.

When examining the merits of the applicant's complaint, the Court emphasised that it was not its task to speculate on whether or not the applicant was a minor at the time of his arrival in Italy: it was, however, satisfied that he did declare that he was a minor at some point after his arrival. Consequently, it examined whether the domestic authorities accorded the applicant the procedural rights stemming from his status as an unaccompanied minor requesting international protection, which it considered to have come into play in two respects: (i) his representation; and (ii) the provision of adequate information during the age-assessment process.

(i) The Court found that the authorities' failure to promptly appoint a legal guardian or representative for the applicant prevented him from duly and effectively submitting an asylum request.

(ii) Although the applicant had stated that he was a minor, he was placed in an overcrowded reception centre for adults for more than four months because the authorities failed to apply the presumption of minority (which presumption the Court deemed to be an inherent element of the protection of the right to respect for private life of a foreign unaccompanied individual claiming to be a minor), and because of shortcomings in the procedural guarantees afforded to him in the age-assessment process (he was not provided with information as to the type of age-assessment procedure he was undergoing and its possible consequences; he was not provided with a copy of the medical report, which failed to indicate a margin of error; and no judicial decision or administrative measure concluding that the applicant was of adult age was issued, which made it impossible for him to lodge an appeal).

While the assessment of an individual's age might be a necessary step in the event of doubt as to his or her minor status, the Court considered that sufficient procedural guarantees had to accompany the procedure. Such safeguards included the appointment of a legal representative or guardian, access to a lawyer, and the informed participation in the age-assessment procedure of the person whose age was in doubt. In this connection, the Court welcomed that the guarantees put in place by EU and international law had gone further to ensure a holistic and multidisciplinary age-assessment procedure. It noted, moreover, that the negative impact on the applicant's right to personal development, and to establish and develop relationships with others, could have been avoided if he had been placed in a specialised centre or with foster parents.

The judgment in *C. v. Romania*⁷² concerned protection against sexual harassment in the workplace.

The applicant made a criminal complaint about sexual harassment in the workplace. A prosecutor examined the applicant (who described the acts carried out by her manager, X, which had taken place over a period of more than two years), as well as X and other witnesses. The prosecutor was given recordings made by the applicant of her interactions with her manager. A decision not to prosecute and to end the investigation was taken after two years, because the acts in guestion had not been committed with the degree of criminal liability required by law. A court confirmed the dismissal of the applicant's complaint: while it found that the manager had asked for sexual favours from her, it considered that she had not felt threatened in her sexual freedom or humiliated, elements required by domestic law for the acts to constitute a criminal offence. Once the matter was reported to X's employer, the steps taken were limited to hearing the parties (including a confrontation between the applicant and X) and instructing the applicant to go to the police. When given a choice to continue working for the same employer or to resign, the applicant chose the latter option.

The Court found a violation of Article 8 (private life/personal integrity) on account of the authorities' failure to comply with their positive obligation to protect the applicant as an alleged victim of sexual harassment, despite existing protective domestic laws.

The judgment is noteworthy in that it is the first time that the Court has examined, under Article 8 of the Convention, a complaint specifically about sexual harassment in the workplace⁷³.

^{72.} C. v. Romania, no. 47358/20, 30 August 2022.

^{73.} See *Spadijer v. Montenegro*, no. 31549/18, 9 November 2021, as regards the obligation to protect employees against bullying in the workplace.

(i) As regards the applicability of Article 8 to an attack on a person's private life, the Court applied the level of seriousness test. While the authorities confirmed that the acts in question (which had taken place) were not considered sufficiently severe to be of a criminal nature under domestic law, the Court considered that those acts, which concerned the applicant's psychological integrity and sexual life, had reached the threshold required for Article 8 to come into play.

(ii) On the merits, the Court clarified that the facts of the case fell within the category of an act in respect of which it had already found that an adequate protective legal framework did not always require a specific criminal-law provision: it therefore first examined the employer's response to the allegations of sexual harassment by an employee. In this regard, the Court emphasised that the impossibility of assessing whether any mechanisms had been put in place by the employer primarily to deal with sexual harassment in the workplace may itself run counter to the requirements of Article 8 of the Convention. Noting, in any event, that the applicant's complaint focused on the alleged deficient response of the authorities to her criminal complaint, the Court went on to examine whether the applicant's right to personal integrity had been sufficiently protected by those criminal proceedings which had resulted in (a) confirmation that X had asked the applicant for sexual favours at work; and (b) a final decision that the acts in guestion did not meet the requirements provided for by the criminal law to constitute a criminal offence.

In concluding that the State had breached its positive obligations under Article 8 in this specific situation, the Court referred to significant flaws in the investigation and decisions, namely:

(a) the specific context of sexual harassment, and the inherent difficulty for the victims to prove their allegations, was not taken into account. X's relationship of power and the subordination of the victim, as well as the alleged threats he made against her, were not considered and assessed;

(b) the psychological consequences of the alleged harassment on the applicant were not analysed by a specialist, and whether any reasons existed for her to make false accusations was not verified; and

(c) insensitive/irreverent statements by X about the applicant were extensively reproduced in the prosecutor's decision, a stigmatisation of the victim which may be seen as contrary to Article 8. The principle according to which the need for a confrontation with the victim must be carefully weighed against the need to protect the victim's dignity and sensitivity was not respected. Referring to international standards, which require the protection of the rights and interests of victims along with the effective punishment of perpetrators, the Court therefore criticised a failure by the investigating authorities to protect the applicant from secondary victimisation.

Freedom of expression (Article 10)

Applicability

The judgment in *Kotlyar v. Russia*⁷⁴ concerned the applicability of Article 10 to a protest in the form of the deliberate submission of false information to authorities in breach of criminal law.

The applicant, a human rights defender, provided legal advice and social assistance to persons who had decided to move to Russia from other republics of the former Soviet Union. In particular, she was a vocal critic of the deficiencies in the legal framework and its practical implementation, which had prevented immigrants from accessing State benefits or applying for Russian citizenship. In protest against the residence registration system and on compassionate grounds, the applicant submitted false information to the authorities in respect of hundreds of non-Russian nationals seeking such registration: she certified that they were all living in her flat, whereas they were actually living elsewhere. She was convicted on this account and appealed unsuccessfully.

The applicant complained that the criminal proceedings against her had sought to stifle her freedom to express an opinion on a systemic social problem, in breach of Article 10, her actions constituting a form of civil disobedience. The Court found that the conduct for which the applicant had been sanctioned did not amount to an expressive act. As she had been held liable for breaching a generally applicable law that had not been designed to suppress, nor had it had the effect of interfering with, any "communicative activity" on her part, the conduct for which she had been sanctioned did not fall within the ambit of Article 10. Her complaint was therefore declared inadmissible as being incompatible *ratione materiae* with the provisions of the Convention.

The judgment is noteworthy in that the Court clarified the factors relevant for assessing whether the protection of Article 10 extends to a given act or conduct prohibited by law. The Court carried out a two-tier analysis: in the first place, it examined the specific law that had been infringed; and secondly, it considered the nature of the impugned act.

^{74.} Kotlyar v. Russia, nos. 38825/16 and 2 others, 12 July 2022.

(i) As to the specific law that had been breached, the Court focused on the following characteristics: whether it was a generally applicable law; whether it had been designed to suppress freedom of expression; and, generally, what the legitimate aims pursued were.

The residence registration law, which the present applicant was found to have infringed, was a law of general application. It did not target the exercise of freedom of expression as such or any specific form of expression. It went no further than requiring that the information about a person's place of residence be truthful and accurate, so that the authorities could, among other purposes, reliably calculate how many public services were needed in each area and ensure that official correspondence was properly addressed and delivered. Providing untrue information about the place of residence impeded the achievement of those legitimate aims and the authorities could take measures to counteract such conduct by introducing administrative or criminal sanctions. The law made it an offence to provide deliberately false information in official applications for neutral regulatory purposes and the Court found nothing unusual or unreasonable in that approach.

(ii) In order to determine whether the law in question had had the effect of interfering with the applicant's freedom of expression, the Court analysed whether it had been infringed in a manner related to the exercise thereof. In other words, the Court considered the nature of the applicant's actions.

To this end, the Court relied upon and clarified two key elements, as set out in *Murat Vural v. Turkey*⁷⁵: the expressive character of the act or conduct seen from an objective point of view, and the purpose or intention of the person performing the act or engaging in the conduct in question.

- In the Court's view, for an activity to be expressive in objective terms, it should be communicative and aimed at a broader public. However, the deliberate provision of false information to the authorities was devoid of such features and therefore did not amount to an expressive act. In this connection, the Court contrasted the instant case and *Gough v. the United Kingdom*⁷⁶, where public nudity had been recognised as a form of expression.

– As to the applicant's purpose, the Court noted the sincerity of her belief as regards the wrongfulness of the residence regulations and of her intention to convey a message of protest in this regard. The applicant had indeed used a variety of means to raise awareness of the issues faced

^{75.} Murat Vural v. Turkey, no. 9540/07, 21 October 2014.

^{76.} Gough v. the United Kingdom, no. 49327/11, 28 October 2014.

by immigrants, including seeking to draw the authorities' attention to those issues, making statements to the media, giving interviews and publishing open letters. The Court has previously accepted that a protest taking the form of impeding the activities of which applicants disapprove may constitute an expression of opinion within the meaning of Article 10 (Steel and Others v. the United Kingdom⁷⁷, and Hashman and Harrup v. the United Kingdom⁷⁸, involving protests against hunting by disrupting organised hunts and against the enlargement of a motorway by breaking into a construction site, respectively). However, it considered there to be a significant difference between being sanctioned for offering some form of resistance to the lawful activities of others and actively engaging in criminally reprehensible conduct by making false representations to the authorities. In the instant case, the Court was therefore unable to accept that the applicant's intention to protest released her from the duty to obey the law and conferred an objectively expressive character on the breach committed, all the more so as she had not been prevented by any repressive measures from bringing her views to the public's attention.

In the Court's view, protest motives are insufficient per se to bring a criminally reprehensible act within the ambit of Article 10. However, where such an act pursues the purpose of preparing material for a communicative activity, it may fall within the scope of this provision. The Court referred in this respect to cases where the applicants had been held responsible for criminally reprehensible acts that had formed part of an investigation undertaken while gathering material for a planned publication or broadcast (Erdtmann v. Germany⁷⁹, where the applicant had carried a knife onto an aeroplane to prepare a television documentary about airport security flaws; Salihu and Others v. Sweden⁸⁰, where the applicant had illegally purchased a firearm to investigate how easy it was to do so; and Brambilla and Others v. Italy⁸¹, where the applicants had illegally intercepted police communications). The Court distinguished the instant case from this case-law: the applicant had not claimed that she had committed the residence-regulation offences as part of an investigation into any official abuse or for the purposes of preparing material that was to be published.

^{77.} Steel and Others v. the United Kingdom, 23 September 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-VII.

^{78.} Hashman and Harrup v. the United Kingdom [GC], no. 25594/94, ECHR 1999-VIII.

^{79.} Erdtmann v. Germany (dec.), no. 56328/10, 5 January 2016.

^{80.} Salihu and Others v. Sweden (dec.), no. 33628/15, 10 May 2016.

^{81.} Brambilla and Others v. Italy, no. 22567/09, 23 June 2016.

Freedom of expression

The judgment in *OOO Memo v. Russia*⁸² concerned the question of whether the measures aimed at protecting the reputational interests of a public body can be regarded as pursuing a "legitimate aim" under Article 10 § 2.

A regional administration (the executive body of a constituent entity of the Russian Federation) brought successful civil defamation proceedings against an online media outlet – the applicant company – which was ordered to publish a retraction of several statements made in an article criticising the actions of the administration.

The applicant company complained under Article 10 that the impugned measure had not pursued any legitimate aim because public authorities could not claim to enjoy any "business reputation". The Court found a breach of this provision, considering that the defamation proceedings had indeed not pursued any of the legitimate aims thereunder.

The judgment is noteworthy in that the Court clarified matters concerning the question of whether the ambit of the "protection of the reputation ... of others" aim in Article 10 § 2 extends to public bodies, and, more specifically, to bodies of the executive vested with State powers.

(i) In the first place, the Court explained in what circumstances it was appropriate to examine in greater detail the question of whether the impugned interference was in pursuance of the legitimate aim of "protection of the reputation ... of others", where the interests of a public body were involved. While the Court generally deals with the question of legitimate aim summarily and with a degree of flexibility (*Merabishvili v. Georgia*⁸³), and focuses on the assessment of the proportionality of the interference, including in this particular context (*Lombardo and Others v. Malta*⁸⁴; *Romanenko and Others v. Russia*⁸⁵; and *Margulev v. Russia*⁸⁶), the Court attached significance to the risks for democracy stemming from court proceedings instituted with a view to limiting public participation. With this in mind, the Court outlined two factors warranting a stricter, more detailed examination of the existence of the above-mentioned legitimate aim: the existence of a dispute between the parties in

^{82.} OOO Memo v. Russia, no. 2840/10, 15 March 2022.

^{83.} Merabishvili v. Georgia [GC], no. 72508/13, §§ 297 and 302, 28 November 2017.

^{84.} Lombardo and Others v. Malta, no. 7333/06, § 50, 24 April 2007.

^{85.} Romanenko and Others v. Russia, no. 11751/03, § 39, 8 October 2009.

^{86.} Margulev v. Russia, no. 15449/09, § 45, 8 October 2019.

this regard and the power imbalance between the claimant and the defendant in the domestic proceedings.

(ii) In some cases about the reputational interests of public bodies, the Court had been prepared to assume that the aim of the "protection of the reputation" was "legitimate" (*Romanenko and Others*, cited above, § 39; *Savva Terentyev v. Russia*⁸⁷; *Freitas Rangel v. Portugal*⁸⁸; and *Goryaynova v. Ukraine*⁸⁹). At the same time, a mere institutional interest did not necessarily attract the same level of guarantees as that accorded to "the protection of the reputation ... of others" within the meaning of Article 10 § 2 (*Margulev*, cited above, § 45, and *Kharlamov v. Russia*⁹⁰). The Court had also stressed that the limits of permissible criticism were wider with regard to a public authority than in relation to a private citizen, or even a politician (*Margulev*, § 53, and *Lombardo*, § 54, both cited above).

(iii) In the instant case, the Court clarified the matter by distinguishing between two types of public body: on the one hand, public entities that engaged in direct economic activities and, on the other, bodies of the executive vested with State powers.

As to the former, the Court observed that public or State-owned corporations engaged in competitive activities in the marketplace relied on their good reputation to attract customers with a view to making a profit. In this respect, the Court reiterated its earlier findings recognising a legitimate "interest in protecting the commercial success and viability of companies, for the benefit of shareholders and employees, but also for the wider economic good" (*Steel and Morris v. the United Kingdom*⁹¹, and *Uj v. Hungary*⁹²).

However, those considerations were inapplicable to the latter, a body of the executive vested with State powers which did not engage as such in direct economic activities but was funded by taxpayers and existed to serve the public. By virtue of its role in a democratic society, the interests of such a body in maintaining a good reputation differed from the reputational interests of natural persons and of legal entities, whether private or public, that competed in the marketplace. In particular, the interests of a public authority were indissociable from the need to prevent abuse of power or corruption of public office by

^{87.} Savva Terentyev v. Russia, no. 10692/09, § 60, 28 August 2018.

^{88.} Freitas Rangel v. Portugal, no. 78873/13, § 48, 11 January 2022.

^{89.} Goryaynova v. Ukraine, no. 41752/09, § 56, 8 October 2020.

^{90.} Kharlamov v. Russia, no. 27447/07, § 29, 8 October 2015.

^{91.} Steel and Morris v. the United Kingdom, no. 68416/01, § 94, ECHR 2005-II.

^{92.} *Uj v. Hungary*, no. 23954/10, § 22, 19 July 2011.

subjecting its activities to close scrutiny, not only of the legislative and judicial authorities but also of public opinion, and shielding bodies of the executive from media criticism would run counter to this objective in so far as it might seriously hamper freedom of the media. Allowing executive bodies to bring defamation proceedings against members of the media would place an excessive and disproportionate burden on the latter and would have an inevitable chilling effect (*Dyuldin and Kislov v. Russia*⁹³, and *Radio Twist a.s. v. Slovakia*⁹⁴).

(iv) In view of the specific features and role of a public authority, the Court set forth a new general rule to the effect that civil defamation proceedings brought in its own name by a legal entity that exercises public power may not be regarded to be in pursuance of the legitimate aim of "the protection of the reputation ... of others" under Article 10 § 2 of the Convention. However, this general rule did not apply to individual members of a public body, who could be "easily identifiable": they may be entitled to bring defamation proceedings in their own individual name. The Court drew inspiration from *Thoma v. Luxembourg*⁹⁵ and *Lombardo and Others* (cited above) to indicate the factors that would make individual members of a public body and the scale of its operations (notably in terms of the size of the population concerned by its activities).

(v) On the facts of the case, the Court found that the claimant in the domestic defamation proceedings was the highest body of the regional executive. It was hardly conceivable that it had had an interest in protecting its commercial success and viability. Nor could it be said that its members had been "easily identifiable". In any event, the defamation case had been brought on behalf of the legal entity and not of its individual members. Accordingly, the civil defamation proceedings instituted by the regional administration against the applicant media company had not pursued any of the legitimate aims enumerated in Article 10 § 2 of the Convention.

Freedom of the press

The judgment in *NIT S.R.L. v. the Republic of Moldova*⁹⁶ concerned the statutory obligation on broadcasters to observe political pluralism.

^{93.} Dyuldin and Kislov v. Russia, no. 25968/02, § 43, 31 July 2007.

^{94.} Radio Twist a.s. v. Slovakia, no. 62202/00, § 53, ECHR 2006-XV.

^{95.} Thoma v. Luxembourg, no. 38432/97, § 56, ECHR 2001-III.

^{96.} NIT S.R.L. v. the Republic of Moldova [GC], no. 28470/12, 5 April 2022.

The applicant company had a television channel (NIT) which it broadcast nationally. In 2009, following a change of government, NIT became a platform for criticism of the government and the promotion of the Party of the Communists (PCRM – the only opposition party at the material time). It was sanctioned for repeated and serious breaches of the statutory requirement to ensure political balance and pluralism, including for: broadcasting distorted news items; favouring the PCRM and covering its opponents (including the government) in a negative light without giving them a platform to reply; and using aggressive journalistic language (comparing one leader of the other political parties to "Hitler", and referring to all of the leaders as "criminals, "bandits", "crooks" and "swindlers"). In 2012 their broadcasting licence was revoked.

The applicant company relied on Article 10 and Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. The Court found no violation of either of these provisions. In its view, Moldova's licensing system was capable of contributing to the quality and balance of programmes and was thus consistent with the third sentence of Article 10 § 1. The manner in which the regulatory framework was designed did not exceed the State's margin of appreciation, the news reporting in issue did not warrant the enhanced protection afforded to press freedom, and the revocation of the licence was considered to be justified, exempt of political motivation, accompanied by adequate safeguards and proportionate to the legitimate aims pursued.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court developed its case-law on pluralism in the media. In particular, the Court dealt, for the first time, with restrictions imposed on a broadcaster with the aim of enabling diversity in the expression of political opinion and enhancing the protection of the free-speech interests of others in the audiovisual media (existing standards had been elaborated in the context of unjustified State interferences with an applicant's Article 10 rights in breach of the principle of pluralism). In this regard, the Court clarified the interrelationship between the internal and external aspects of media pluralism, the scope of the margin of appreciation afforded to States, and the level of scrutiny applicable to restrictions in this area. It also outlined the factors for assessing a regulatory framework and its application.

(i) While previous cases were concerned with the external aspect of media pluralism⁹⁷, in the present case the Court considered its

^{97.} Concerning issues such as the existence of a variety of outlets, each with a different point of view, and the concentration of media in the hands of too few, such as a monopoly, duopoly, etc., see *Manole and Others v. Moldova*, no. 13936/02, ECHR 2009 (extracts); *Centro*

internal aspect (obligation on broadcasters to present different political views in a balanced manner, without favouring a particular party or movement). The Court clarified that both aspects had to be considered in combination with each other, rather than in isolation. This meant that in a national licensing system involving a certain number of broadcasters with national coverage, what might be regarded as a lack of internal pluralism in the programmes offered by one broadcaster might be compensated for by the existence of effective external pluralism. However, it is not sufficient to provide for the existence of several channels. What was required was to guarantee the diversity of overall programme content, reflecting as far as possible the variety of opinions in society. Having surveyed different approaches in member States to achieve this objective, the Court was of the view that Article 10 did not impose a particular model.

(ii) The Court further clarified that the States' margin of discretion, in determining the means of ensuring political pluralism in the area of licensing audiovisual media, should be wider than normally afforded to restrictions on freedom of the press to report on matters of public interest or political opinion, which traditionally called for a strict scrutiny. However, that discretion would be narrower depending on the nature and seriousness of any restriction on editorial freedom. In particular, the severity of the present sanction imposed on a media company called for closer scrutiny by the Court and for a narrower margin of appreciation.

(iii) As to assessing the relevant regulatory framework and its application in the concrete circumstances of a given case, the Court will analyse whether the effects they have produced, seen as a whole, are compatible with the guarantees of Article 10 and have been attended by effective safeguards against arbitrariness and abuse. The fairness of proceedings and procedural guarantees afforded are factors of particular relevance for the proportionality assessment, especially where the impugned measures are severe.

(iv) Considering specifically the obligation on broadcasters to observe the principle of political balance and pluralism, as enshrined in domestic law, the Court based its analysis on the following factors:

 the scope and generality of the obligation (in the instant case, it extended only to news bulletins, concerned all broadcasters and did not require them to give an equal amount of airtime to all political parties, but to offer an opportunity to comment or reply); the degree of external pluralism (it was quite limited in the present case; the existence of four other TV broadcasters with nationwide coverage was insufficient to call into question the strictness of the internal pluralism policy);

- the domestic media context (following the post-2001 election of the PCRM as the only governing party and the ensuing media situation, which had been criticised in *Manole and Others v. Moldova*⁹⁸, the authorities had been under a strong positive obligation to put in place legislation ensuring the transmission of accurate and balanced news and information reflecting the full range of political opinions); and

– the existence of safeguards to secure the independence of a media regulator and its protection from undue government influence and political pressures (such as the rules on its structure and the selection, appointment and functioning of its members).

(v) When assessing the proportionality of the impugned licence revocation, which was the most severe sanction under domestic law that had immediate effect, the Court attached particular importance to the fairness of the proceedings and the procedural safeguards, including: the public nature of, and the representation of the NIT at, the meetings of the media regulator; the ability to submit comments on the monitoring findings, to challenge the media regulator's decision before the competent courts and to ask for a stay of execution; and the provision of reasons by the courts when dismissing such a request and, generally, the thoroughness of the judicial review.

The Court also had regard to the following elements: the gravity and persistence of NIT's transgressions and its defiant attitude despite a series of previous milder sanctions; the considerable impact of NIT's news bulletins broadcast nationwide; and the remaining possibilities for NIT to broadcast on the Internet, to pursue other income-generating activities and to reapply for a licence one year after its revocation.

Freedom of assembly and association (Article 11)

Applicability

The decision in *Barış and Others v. Turkey*⁹⁹ concerned the applicability of Article 11 to dismissal based on participation in unofficial strike action.

The applicants, company employees, were dismissed for having stopped working throughout a period of strike action which had

^{98.} Manole and Others v. Moldova, no. 13936/02, ECHR 2009 (extracts).

^{99.} Barış and Others v. Turkey (dec.), nos. 66828/16 and 31 others, adopted on 14 December 2021 and delivered on 27 January 2022.

not been initiated by a trade union, but instead by a large number of employees who had resigned *en masse* from their previous trade union, in which they had no longer had confidence. Many of their number, including the applicants, decided to join another trade union. The purpose of their action was to protest against the procedure by which the previous (recognised) trade union had negotiated the collectivebargaining agreement concluded with the employer, and against the pressure allegedly exerted by the employer to join this trade union, or to remain in it. The applicants challenged their dismissal before the courts, but without success. According to the facts as established by the Court of Cassation, their dismissal had been based on participation in a strike that was not part of trade-union action, rather than on their wish to leave the trade union in question and join another one.

The Court declared the application inadmissible (incompatible *ratione materiae*), on the grounds that the disputed procedure did not come within the scope of Article 11 of the Convention.

The decision is noteworthy in that the Court addressed a new question, namely the applicability of Article 11 to a strike conducted by individual employees, outside the framework of official trade-union action.

The cases which the Court has examined to date concerned actions that had always been initiated by a trade union, whether they involved strike action or actions comparable to it (*Karaçay v. Turkey*¹⁰⁰; *Dilek and Others v. Turkey*¹⁰¹; and the case-law summarised in *Association of Academics v. Iceland*¹⁰²). In its settled case-law, the Court has considered strike action as an important and powerful tool available to trade unions in order to defend the professional instruments of their members (Schmidt and Dahlström v. Sweden¹⁰³; Wilson, National Union of Journalists and Others v. the United Kingdom¹⁰⁴; and Hrvatski liječnički sindikat v. Croatia¹⁰⁵). While the Court recognises, in principle, that the protection of Article 11 extends to this tool of trade-union action, it has, however, never accepted that a strike that is called not by a trade union, but by a trade union's members, or even non-members, is also entitled to the same protection. In the present decision, the Court clarified that it is

^{100.} Karaçay v. Turkey, no. 6615/03, 27 March 2007.

^{101.} Dilek and Others v. Turkey, nos. 74611/01 and 2 others, 17 July 2007.

^{102.} Association of Academics v. Iceland (dec.), no. 2451/16, 15 May 2018.

^{103.} Schmidt and Dahlström v. Sweden, 6 February 1976, § 36, Series A no. 21.

^{104.} Wilson, National Union of Journalists and Others v. the United Kingdom, nos. 30668/96 and 2 others, § 45, ECHR 2002-V.

^{105.} Hrvatski liječnički sindikat v. Croatia, no. 36701/09, § 49, 27 November 2014.

specifically as a tool in the arsenal of trade unions that the right to strike is protected by Article 11. In other words,

... strike action is, in principle, protected by Article 11 only in so far as it is called by trade-union organisations and considered as being effectively – and not only presumed to be – part of trade-union activity.

In this connection, the Court referred to the case-law of the European Committee on Social Rights, which has found that reserving the right to strike to trade unions is compatible with Article 6 § 4 of the European Social Charter, provided that setting up a trade union is not subject to excessive formalities.

On this basis, and for the purpose of examining the applicability of Article 11 to the present case, the Court focused its attention on one particular aspect of the case, namely the applicants' negative right to freedom of association, having regard, in particular, to their wish to leave the trade union in question and the related allegations of pressure from their employer. However, as follows from the analysis by the Court of Cassation and the Constitutional Court, all of the measures taken by the employer were related to the employees' failure to resume working, and were not based on their membership, or non-membership, of a specific trade union. In addition, the conditions for membership of the trade union were not at all the subject matter of the strike action in which the applicants took part. Thus, the question of whether or not the applicants had the possibility to leave a trade union and to join another trade union did not seem to be in issue in the present case.

In the light of all these factors, the Court concluded that the applicants could not effectively claim a right to the freedom of association that is protected under Article 11, in so far as they had not been dismissed:

- for having taken part in a demonstration organised by a trade union;

for having asserted professional rights as part of the activities of a trade union;

- for having withdrawn from a specific trade union; or
- for having chosen not to join a specific trade union.

Prohibition of discrimination (Article 14)

Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 8

The judgment in *Arnar Helgi Lárusson v. Iceland*¹⁰⁶ concerned a lack of wheelchair access to two public buildings, cultural and social, in the

^{106.} Arnar Helgi Lárusson v. Iceland, no. 23077/19, 31 May 2022.

applicant's place of residence and the State's positive obligations in this regard.

The applicant, a wheelchair user, unsuccessfully brought proceedings with a view to improving the accessibility of arts and cultural centres in his town. The domestic courts noted that the municipality had worked towards improving such access further to domestic legislation which had taken into account the State's international obligations under the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD): the municipality had devised and put into action a strategy to improve access to some of its buildings within its wide margin of appreciation as to the prioritisation of such projects and the allocation of funds available.

The applicant complained under Article 14 in conjunction with Article 8 (private life) about the inaccessibility of those two public buildings which had led to him being unable to attend cultural and arts events therein and put him on an uneven footing with other inhabitants of the town. The Court found that there had been no violation of the Convention.

The judgment is noteworthy in that, for the first time, a complaint about a lack of accessibility of public buildings for disabled persons was considered to fall within the ambit of "private life", allowing the Court to go on to examine, under Article 14 in conjunction with Article 8, whether the State had fulfilled its positive obligations, given international standards, to take sufficient measures to correct factual inequalities impacting on the applicant's equal enjoyment of his right to private life.

(i) Distinguishing the applicant's case from prior cases (*Botta v. Italy*¹⁰⁷; *Zehnalová and Zehnal v. the Czech Republic*¹⁰⁸; and *Glaisen v. Switzerland*¹⁰⁹) and finding that the present lack of wheelchair access did fall within the "ambit" of "private life" and Article 8, the Court: (i) stressed that the applicant had clearly identified two particular public buildings playing an important part in local life, the lack of access to which had hindered him attending a substantial part of the cultural activities, social events and parties offered by his community; (ii) underlined European and international standards to the effect that people with disabilities should be enabled to fully integrate into society and have equal opportunities for participation in the life of the community; and (iii) considered that the situation in issue was liable to affect the applicant's rights to personal development and to establish and develop

^{107.} Botta v. Italy, 24 February 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-I.

^{108.} Zehnalová and Zehnal v. the Czech Republic (dec.), no. 38621/97, ECHR 2002-V.

^{109.} Glaisen v. Switzerland (dec.), no. 40477/13, 25 June 2019.

relationships with the outside world, thereby falling within the "ambit" of Article 8.

(ii) As to whether there had been discrimination due to a lack of positive measures by the State, the Court specified, first, that a certain threshold is required for the Court to find that such a difference in treatment is significant. Secondly, it clarified that the States' margin of appreciation is a wide one as regards a lack of access to public buildings in the context of the right to respect for private and family life. Thirdly, as Article 14 had already been read in the light of the requirements of the CRPD, the Court extended its previous considerations, regarding "reasonable accommodation" which people with disabilities are entitled to expect, to their social and cultural life, by reference to Article 30 of the CRPD which requires that such persons are guaranteed the opportunity to take part on an equal basis with others in cultural life. Lastly, the relevant test to be applied was whether the State had made the "necessary and appropriate modifications and adjustments" to accommodate and facilitate persons with disabilities, like the applicant, which did not impose "a disproportionate or undue burden" on the State.

(iii) When applying the above principles, the Court had regard to the following factors:

 the considerable efforts already made following a parliamentary resolution to improve accessibility of public buildings in the municipality, having regard to the available budget and the necessary protection of the old buildings in question;

- the priority which had been given to educational and sports facilities, as regards improvements already made, which was neither arbitrary nor unreasonable; and

- the resulting general commitment of the State to work towards the gradual realisation of universal access in line with the relevant international materials (Recommendation Rec(2006)5 of the Council of Europe¹¹⁰ and the CRPD).

In the circumstances and having regard to the positive obligation to reasonably accommodate the applicant, requiring the State to put in place further measures would amount to imposing a "disproportionate or undue burden" on it. The applicant's lack of access to the two buildings in question did not therefore amount to a discriminatory failure by the State to take sufficient measures to correct factual inequalities in order to enable the applicant to exercise his right to private life on an equal basis with others.

^{110.} Recommendation Rec(2006)5 of the Council of Europe to member states on the Council of Europe Action Plan to promote the rights and full participation of people with disabilities in society: improving the quality of life of people with disabilities in Europe 2006-2015.

The judgment in *Beeler v. Switzerland*¹¹¹ concerned the question of whether a complaint relating to a welfare benefit fell within the ambit of "family life".

After the death of his wife, the applicant left employment in order to look after their children full time, and was therefore paid a "widower's pension". In accordance with the domestic law, the right to receive that pension ended when his youngest daughter reached the age of majority. At that time, he was not yet eligible for an old-age pension and, since he had not been employed for over sixteen years, he claimed that he was unable to find a job. He unsuccessfully argued that the termination of his widower's pension was discriminatory because the relevant law did not deprive widows of their entitlement to such a pension even after their youngest child had reached adulthood.

The applicant complained under Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 8. The Government stated that welfare benefits, such as the one in issue, ordinarily fell within the scope of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 (which had not been ratified by Switzerland) and not within that of Article 8. A Chamber of the Court (2020) found that the complaint fell within the ambit of Article 8, rendering Article 14 applicable and the Grand Chamber reached the same conclusion (on different grounds). Like the Chamber, the Grand Chamber also found a violation of Article 14 (in conjunction with Article 8): no "very strong" or "particularly weighty and convincing" reasons had been shown to justify the difference of treatment on grounds of sex. In particular, there was no reason to believe that the applicant would have less difficulty returning to employment than a woman in a similar situation or that the end of the pension payments would have less impact on him than on a widow in comparable circumstances.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court has clarified, for the purposes of the applicability of Article 14, the relevant criteria to be applied to circumscribe what falls within the ambit of Article 8, under its "family life" aspect, in the sphere of welfare benefits.

(i) In the vast majority of cases concerning entitlement to welfare benefits, the Court carried out its analysis primarily under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 (or Article 14 in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1) rather than under Article 8. The Court found that its case-law had sufficient maturity and stability to provide a clear definition of the threshold required for the applicability of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1,

^{111.} Beeler v. Switzerland [GC], no. 78630/12, 11 October 2022.

including in this particular sphere. In this regard, the Court reiterated and summarised the relevant principles set out in *Béláné Nagy v. Hungary*¹¹².

(ii) The Court acknowledged that there was less clarity as regards the scope of Article 8 in the sphere of welfare benefits. While the concept of "family life" within the meaning of Article 8 also covered (in addition to social, moral and cultural relations) certain material interests which had necessary pecuniary consequences, there were fewer cases in which complaints concerning welfare benefits had been examined by the Court under Article 8 alone. In this connection, the Court emphasised that Article 8 alone could not be interpreted as imposing any positive obligations on the State in the social security sphere, and it did not guarantee the right to a welfare benefit.

(iii) At the same time, the Court observed that the scope of Article 14, read in conjunction with Article 8, could be more extensive than that of Article 8 read alone. Indeed, where a State created a right to a welfare benefit, thus going beyond its obligations under Article 8, it could not, in the application of that right, take discriminatory measures within the meaning of Article 14. The Court therefore analysed the factors capable of bringing the facts of a case of this kind within the ambit of Article 8, as they transpired from the more numerous cases where complaints concerning welfare benefits had been examined under Article 14 of the Convention in conjunction with Article 8.

(iv) The analysis of the relevant case-law revealed inconsistencies in defining the factors which trigger the applicability of Article 14 read in conjunction with Article 8. In particular, there were three different approaches. According to the first, applicability transpired from a combination of circumstances involving the granting of parental leave and a related allowance, both measures aimed at enabling one of the parents to remain at home to look after children. In the applicants' specific situation, such measures had necessarily affected the way in which their family life had been organised. In other words, a close link between the allowance associated with parental leave and the enjoyment of family life was considered necessary (*Konstantin Markin v. Russia*¹¹³; *Petrovic v. Austria*¹¹⁴; and *Topčić-Rosenberg v. Croatia*¹¹⁵). The second approach, which had guided the Chamber in the instant case, was based on the hypothesis that the fact of granting or refusing the benefit was liable to affect the way in which family life was organised

^{112.} Béláné Nagy v. Hungary [GC], no. 53080/13, §§ 70-74 and 86-89, 13 December 2016.

^{113.} Konstantin Markin v. Russia [GC], no. 30078/06, §§ 129-30, ECHR 2012 (extracts).

^{114.} Petrovic v. Austria, 27 March 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-II.

^{115.} Topčić-Rosenberg v. Croatia, no. 19391/11, 14 November 2013.

(*Di Trizio v. Switzerland*¹¹⁶, and *Belli and Arquier-Martinez v. Switzerland*¹¹⁷). The third approach consisted of a legal presumption to the effect that, in providing the benefit in question, the State was displaying its support and respect for family life (*Dhahbi v. Italy*¹¹⁸; *Weller v. Hungary*¹¹⁹; *Fawsie v. Greece*¹²⁰; *Okpisz v. Germany*¹²¹; *Niedzwiecki v. Germany*¹²²; and *Yocheva and Ganeva v. Bulgaria*¹²³).

(v) In order to redress the above inconsistency, the Court decided to no longer follow the second and third approaches above. Indeed, there was a need to avoid the excessive extension of the ambit of Article 8: while all financial benefits generally had a certain effect on the way in which the family life of the person concerned was managed, that fact alone could not suffice to bring them all within that ambit. In this regard, the Court bore in mind that the interests secured under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 and Article 8 were different, even though their respective spheres of protection intersected and overlapped. This led the Court to stick to the first of the above approaches, taking the judgment in *Konstantin Markin* (cited above) as the main reference. Accordingly, for Article 14 to be applicable in this specific context, the Court clarified that

the subject matter of the alleged disadvantage must constitute one of the modalities of exercising the right to respect for family life as guaranteed by Article 8 of the Convention, in the sense that the measures seek to promote family life and necessarily affect the way in which it is organised.

The Court further specified a range of factors relevant for determining the nature of the benefit in question, in particular: the aim of the benefit, as determined by the Court in the light of the legislation concerned; the criteria for awarding, calculating and terminating the benefit as set forth in the relevant statutory provisions; the effects on the way in which family life is organised, as envisaged by the legislation; and the practical repercussions of the benefit, given the applicant's individual circumstances and family life throughout the period during which the benefit is paid. These factors are to be examined as a whole.

^{116.} Di Trizio v. Switzerland, no. 7186/09, 2 February 2016.

^{117.} Belli and Arquier-Martinez v. Switzerland, no. 65550/13, 11 December 2018.

^{118.} Dhahbi v. Italy, no. 17120/09, 8 April 2014.

^{119.} Weller v. Hungary, no. 44399/05, 31 March 2009.

^{120.} Fawsie v. Greece, no. 40080/07, 28 October 2010.

^{121.} Okpisz v. Germany, no. 59140/00, 25 October 2005.

^{122.} Niedzwiecki v. Germany, no. 58453/00, 25 October 2005.

^{123.} Yocheva and Ganeva v. Bulgaria, nos. 18592/15 and 43863/15, 11 May 2021.

In the present case, the Court found, in the first place, that the pension in issue sought to promote family life by enabling a surviving parent to look after children without having to engage in an occupation, and, secondly, that receipt of the pension had necessarily affected the way in which the applicant's family life had been organised throughout the relevant period. The facts of the case therefore fell within the ambit of Article 8, rendering Article 14 of the Convention applicable.

The judgment in *Basu v. Germany*¹²⁴ concerned allegations of racial profiling during an identity check.

Police officers carried out an identity check on the applicant, a German national of Indian origin, and his daughter on a train which had just passed the border from the Czech Republic into Germany. When asked about the reasons for it, the officers said it was a random check and that cigarettes were frequently smuggled on that train. They confirmed, however, that there had not been any specific suspicion in respect of the applicant in this regard. The administrative courts declined to examine the merits of the applicant's complaint that the impugned check had only been carried out because of his dark skin colour.

The applicant complained under Article 14, read in conjunction with Article 8, and the Court found a violation of this provision.

The judgment is noteworthy in two respects. In the first place, the Court clarified the criteria by which to assess whether an identity check, allegedly based on physical or ethnic motives, falls within the ambit of Article 8 under its "private life" aspect, thus triggering the applicability of Article 14. Secondly, the Court clarified the scope of the procedural obligation in this context¹²⁵.

(i) The Court clarified that not every identity check of a person belonging to an ethnic minority would fall within the ambit of Article 8. Opting for a consequence-based approach (*Denisov v. Ukraine*¹²⁶), the Court specified that in order to do so, such a check must attain the necessary threshold of severity so as to fall within the ambit of "private life". That threshold is only attained if the person concerned has an arguable claim that he or she may have been targeted on account

^{124.} Basu v. Germany, no. 215/19, 18 October 2022.

^{125.} This issue is also examined in *Muhammad v. Spain* (no. 34085/17, 18 October 2022 (not final) – see below), which also deals with questions concerning the standard and burden of proof to be applied in this context.

^{126.} Denisov v. Ukraine [GC], no. 76639/11, §§ 110-14, 25 September 2018.

of specific physical or ethnic characteristics. In other words, for that threshold to be met, the Court requires a certain level of substantiation for allegations of this kind. Such an arguable claim may exist where the person concerned submits that he or she or persons having the same characteristics were the only person or persons subjected to a check and where no other grounds for the check were apparent, or where any explanations given by the officers carrying out the check disclosed specific physical or ethnic motives. In this connection, drawing upon its case-law concerning an identity check accompanied by a detailed search (*Gillan and Quinton v. the United Kingdom*¹²⁷), the Court observed that the public nature of the check might have an effect on a person's reputation and self-respect.

Turning to the facts, the Court analysed how the applicant had substantiated both his racial-profiling allegations and the repercussions of the impugned check on his private life. As to the former, the applicant pointed out that, of the persons present in different compartments of the train carriage, he and his daughter had been the only persons with a dark skin colour and the only persons who had been subjected to the check. Furthermore, the explanations given by the police officer did not disclose any other objective grounds for targeting the applicant. As to the latter, the applicant argued that the identity check under such conditions had made him feel stigmatised and humiliated. In the Court's view, the applicant had substantiated his argument that the impugned check had had sufficiently serious consequences for his right to respect for his private life. The identity check in question therefore fell within the ambit of Article 8, rendering Article 14 applicable.

(ii) Regarding the procedural obligation in this context, the Court clarified that the authorities' duty to investigate the existence of a possible link between racist attitudes and a State agent's act, even of a nonviolent nature, was to be considered as implicit in their responsibilities under Article 14 when examined in conjunction with Article 8. The Court reached this conclusion on the basis of two considerations. In the first place, relying on the findings of the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) and the UN Human Rights Committee, the Court considered it essential to ensure protection from stigmatisation and to prevent the spread of xenophobic attitudes, so as to avoid protection against racial discrimination becoming theoretical and illusory in the context of non-violent acts falling to be examined

^{127.} Gillan and Quinton v. the United Kingdom, no. 4158/05, ECHR 2010 (extracts).

under Article 8. Secondly, the Court drew on its case-law on racially induced violence (B.S. v. Spain¹²⁸; Boacă and Others v. Romania¹²⁹; Burlya and Others v. Ukraine¹³⁰; and Sabalić v. Croatia¹³¹) to outline the scope of the procedural obligation in this regard. In particular, State authorities have an obligation to take all reasonable measures to identify whether there were racist motives and to establish whether or not ethnic hatred or prejudice may have played a role in the events. The authorities must do what is reasonable in the circumstances to collect and secure the evidence, explore all practical means of discovering the truth and deliver fully reasoned, impartial and objective decisions, without omitting suspicious facts that may be indicative of racially induced violence. For an investigation to be effective, the institutions and persons responsible for carrying it out must be independent of those targeted by it: this means not only a lack of any hierarchical or institutional connection, but also practical independence. The Court reiterated that, generally, the duty to investigate served to ensure accountability through appropriate criminal, civil, administrative and professional avenues, the State enjoying a margin of appreciation as to the manner in which to organise its system to ensure compliance (F.O. v. Croatia¹³²).

In the instant case, the Court found that the State authorities had failed to comply with their duty to take all reasonable measures to ascertain through an independent body whether or not a discriminatory attitude had played a role in the identity check. Indeed, in view of the hierarchical and institutional connections between the investigating authority and the State agent which had carried out the impugned identity check, the investigations could not be considered independent. The domestic courts had failed to take the necessary evidence and, in particular, to hear the witnesses who had been present during the identity check. They had dismissed the applicant's action on formal grounds, considering that he had not had a legitimate interest in a decision on the lawfulness of his identity check.

In the absence of an effective investigation into the applicant's arguable claim, the Court was unable to make a finding on the substantive aspect of his complaint, namely, on whether he had been subjected to the identity check on account of his ethnic origin.

^{128.} B.S. v. Spain, no. 47159/08, 24 July 2012.

^{129.} Boacă and Others v. Romania, no. 40355/11, 12 January 2016.

^{130.} Burlya and Others v. Ukraine, no. 3289/10, 6 November 2018.

^{131.} Sabalić v. Croatia, no. 50231/13, 14 January 2021.

^{132.} F.O. v. Croatia, no. 29555/13, 22 April 2021.

The judgment in *Muhammad v. Spain*¹³³ also concerned allegations of racial profiling during an identity check.

The applicant and his friend, both Pakistani nationals, were stopped by the police while walking on a street in a tourist area in which pickpocketing was relatively common. The applicant was asked for his identification. He submitted that one of the officers acknowledged that the applicant had been checked because of the colour of his skin and that they would not have stopped a "German", a submission contested by the police. According to the police report, the applicant was approached only in response to his provocative and insolent attitude. The applicant was arrested and taken to a police station where he was given an administrative fine for having refused to identify himself and displaying a lack of respect towards authority. While the domestic legal framework provided both a criminal and an administrative remedy in respect of racial discrimination, the applicant had recourse only to the administrative procedure. His State liability claim was dismissed on the ground that he had not properly substantiated his allegation that the identity check had been discriminatory.

The applicant complained under Article 14 read in conjunction with Article 8. The Court found that the identity check in question fell within the ambit of Article 8: it had necessarily affected the applicant's private life and would have been sufficient to affect his psychological integrity and ethnic identity. Article 14 was therefore applicable. The Court went on to find no violation of the procedural limb of Article 14 (in conjunction with Article 8): the State had not failed to comply with its obligation to investigate the existence of racist motives behind the check in issue (the domestic courts had assessed the evidence before them and the applicant had been able to challenge their decisions, which had been sufficiently reasoned and motivated). The Court also found no violation of the substantive limb of Article 14 (in conjunction with Article 8): it did not find it established that racist attitudes had played a role in the applicant's identity check by the police and his arrest.

The judgment is noteworthy in three respects. In the first place, the Court clarified the criteria by which to assess whether an identity check allegedly based on physical or ethnic motives, falls within the ambit of Article 8 under its "private life" aspect, thus triggering the applicability of Article 14. Secondly, the Court clarified the scope of the procedural obligation in this context¹³⁴. Thirdly, the Court indicated the approach

^{133.} Muhammad v. Spain, no. 34085/17, 18 October 2022 (not final).

^{134.} These two issues are also examined in Basu v. Germany (no. 215/19, 18 October 2022

⁻ see above). For ease of reference, those developments are described in detail only in the

to be followed with regard to the standard and burden of proof in the context of allegations of racial profiling.

Regarding the last point, the Court reiterated its usual principle *affirmanti incumbit probatio*, noting that the burden of proof shifted to the Government only once an applicant had shown a difference of treatment (*D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic*¹³⁵).

The Court further referred to the following principle, as set out in *Nachova and Others v. Bulgaria*¹³⁶: when it is alleged that a certain act of discrimination was motivated by racial prejudice, the Government cannot be required to prove the absence of a particular subjective attitude on the part of the person/persons concerned.

Turning to the instant case, the Court noted that the applicant had relied heavily on the fact that nobody else belonging to the "majority Caucasian population" had been stopped on the same street immediately before, during or after his identity check. This, however, could not be taken as an indication per se of any racial motivation behind the request for him to show his identity document. The applicant had not shown any surrounding circumstances which could suggest that the police had been carrying out identity checks motivated by animosity against citizens who shared the applicant's ethnicity, or which could give rise to the presumption required to reverse the burden of proof at the domestic level as to the existence of any racial or ethnic profiling. The applicant's friend, also Pakistani, had not been arrested and both the police and the Government had denied that he had also been requested to identify himself. There was no reason for the Court to depart from the domestic courts' conclusion that it had been the applicant's attitude, and not his ethnicity, that had caused the police officers to stop him and perform an identity check.

The applicant had submitted reports by a number of organisations, including intergovernmental bodies, expressing concerns regarding the occurrence of racially motivated police identity checks. The Court, however, did not find them sufficient to shift the burden of proof to the Government, as in cases concerning indirect discrimination (*D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic*, cited above).

In sum, the Court was unable to find that the requirement on the applicant to identify himself on the street had been motivated by racism.

summary of that case.

^{135.} D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic [GC], no. 57325/00, §§ 177-78, ECHR 2007-IV.

^{136.} Nachova and Others v. Bulgaria [GC], nos. 43577/98 and 43579/98, § 157, ECHR 2005-VII.

Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1

The judgment in *Savickis and Others v. Latvia*¹³⁷ concerned the justification for a difference in treatment based on nationality, in the context of the restoration of a State's independence after unlawful occupation and annexation.

Following the restoration of Latvia's independence, a new system of occupational retirement pensions was put in place, which allowed for periods of employment accrued outside its territory to be counted towards the pension for Latvian nationals. Since the applicants were "permanently resident non-citizens", their years of service outside Latvia during the Soviet era were not taken into account for the calculation of their pensions. In Andrejeva v. Latvia¹³⁸, the Court found this difference of treatment to amount to a breach of Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. Several of the present applicants unsuccessfully applied to have their pensions recalculated. In 2011 the Constitutional Court declared the impugned rule compatible with the Constitution and the Convention, drawing a clear distinction between the case in Andrejeva and the applicants' case: while Ms Andrejeva had resided in the territory of Latvia over the disputed periods, the applicants had worked outside it before establishing any legal ties with Latvia. In this connection, the Constitutional Court relied on the doctrine of State continuity, which had informed the setting-up of the system of retirement pensions. According to this doctrine, while Latvian statehood had *de facto* been lost as a result of aggression (1940), it had nevertheless remained in place *de jure* throughout the five decades of unlawful occupation and annexation on the part of the former Soviet Union: Latvia was not therefore the successor of the rights and obligations of the USSR. The Grand Chamber (upon relinguishment) considered the above arguments to amount to "very weighty reasons" justifying the contested difference in treatment. It found no violation of Article 14 in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1, thus reaching a different conclusion from that in the Andrejeva case.

This Grand Chamber judgment is an example of judicial dialogue with a national superior court. It is also noteworthy for the manner in which the Court assessed the justification for the difference in treatment based on nationality in the specific context of the restoration of the State's independence after decades of unlawful occupation and annexation. Of particular interest are the factors relevant for

^{137.} Savickis and Others v. Latvia [GC], no. 49270/11, 9 June 2022.

^{138.} Andrejeva v. Latvia [GC], no. 55707/00, ECHR 2009.

determining the appropriate scope of the margin of appreciation, as well as the significance given to personal choice concerning legal status or citizenship in matters relating to financial benefits.

(i) The Court drew a clear distinction between the context of State succession and the specific context in issue, thus agreeing with the Constitutional Court that Latvia was not obliged to assume the responsibilities of the USSR upon the restoration of its independence. Indeed, having undergone unlawful occupation and subsequent annexation, a State is not required to assume the public-law obligations accrued by the illegally established public authorities of the occupying or annexing power. Latvia was thus neither automatically bound by such obligations based on the Soviet period nor obliged to undertake those emanating from obligations of the occupying or annexing State. In this connection, the Court accepted the legitimacy of the aim of safeguarding the constitutional identity of the State and avoiding retrospective approbation of the consequences of the immigration policy practised in the period of unlawful occupation and annexation of the country. In the Court's view, the preferential treatment accorded to those possessing Latvian citizenship in respect of past periods of employment performed outside Latvia was in line with this legitimate aim.

(ii) While the justification of a difference in treatment based exclusively on nationality requires "very weighty reasons", thus indicating a narrow margin, the Court clarified the application of this principle in a field where a wide margin is, and must be, granted to the State in formulating general measures (notably of economic and social policy). In particular, even the assessment of what may constitute "very weighty reasons" for the purposes of the application of Article 14 may have to vary in degree depending on the context and circumstances. In the instant case, the Court carried out this assessment against the background of a wide margin of appreciation and eventually concluded that the grounds relied upon by the Latvian authorities could be deemed to amount to "very weighty reasons". The Court based its analysis on the following factors.

In the first place, the Court reiterated its case-law acknowledging that there may be valid reasons for giving special treatment to those whose link with a country stemmed from birth within it or who otherwise had a special link with a country (*Abdulaziz, Cabales and Balkandali v. the United Kingdom*¹³⁹). The Court had previously accepted a difference in treatment based on nationality for reasons relating to the date from

^{139.} Abdulaziz, Cabales and Balkandali v. the United Kingdom, 28 May 1985, Series A no. 94.

which the applicants had developed ties with the respondent State (*British Gurkha Welfare Society and Others v. the United Kingdom*¹⁴⁰).

Secondly, drawing upon *Bah v. the United Kingdom*¹⁴¹, the Court accepted that, in the context of a difference in treatment based on nationality, there may be certain situations where the element of personal choice linked with the legal status in question may be of significance, especially where privileges, entitlements and financial benefits were at stake. The status of "permanently resident non-citizens" had been devised as a temporary instrument so that the individuals concerned could obtain Latvian or another citizenship. However, despite the considerable time frame available to the applicants, it did not appear that any of them had ever tried to obtain Latvian citizenship or that they had been met with obstacles in doing so. Even though naturalisation depends on the fulfilment of certain conditions and may require certain efforts, the question of legal status is largely a matter of personal aspiration rather than an immutable situation.

Thirdly, the Court attached weight to the particular context of the difference in treatment in issue, holding that it warranted a substantial degree of deference to be afforded to the Government. The complex policy choices made by the Latvian legislature were directly linked to the specific historical, economic and demographic circumstances, including the severe economic difficulties, prevailing in the wake of the restoration of Latvia's independence and during its transition from a totalitarian regime to a democracy. In particular, the special status of "permanently resident non-citizens" had been created with a view to addressing the consequences of five decades of unlawful occupation and annexation.

Fourthly, the Court took note of the temporal scope of the preferential treatment in issue: it only concerned past periods of employment completed outside Latvia prior to the restoration of independence and the introduction of the pension scheme. The Court also endorsed the manner in which the Constitutional Court had distinguished the present case from that in *Andrejeva*: the disputed periods had been completed before the applicants settled in, or established any other links with, Latvia.

Finally, the impugned difference in treatment neither left the applicants without social cover (such as basic pension benefits unrelated to employment history), nor entailed any deprivation, or other loss, of benefits based on financial contributions.

^{140.} British Gurkha Welfare Society and Others v. the United Kingdom, no. 44818/11, 15 September 2016.

^{141.} Bah v. the United Kingdom, no. 56328/07, § 47, ECHR 2011.

In response to the request submitted by the French *Conseil d'État* under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion¹⁴² on 13 July 2022, which concerned the difference in treatment between landowner associations "having a recognised existence on the date of the creation of an approved municipal hunters' association" and those set up after that date.

A legislative amendment passed in France in 2019 allowed certain landowners - who had come together in an association before the date of creation of an approved municipal hunters' association (Association communale de chasse agréée – "ACCA") in their municipality and whose land (total area) attained the minimum threshold defined by law - to withdraw from that ACCA and to recover the exclusive hunting rights on their lands, whereas landowners meeting the same minimum total area threshold but whose association had been set up after the establishment of the ACCA did not have that right. The ACCAs were created in 1964 by a law known as the "Loi Verdeille". According to that law, the right to hunt belongs to the owner on his or her land: however, the creation of an ACCA results in the pooling of hunting grounds within the municipality, so that the members of the association can hunt throughout the common area thus formed. Under certain conditions the owners of landholdings attaining, in a single block, a specified minimum area may object to the inclusion of their land in the ACCA's hunting grounds or request its removal therefrom (Chassagnou and Others v. France¹⁴³, and Chabauty v. *France*¹⁴⁴). A federation of private foresters applied to the *Conseil d'État* for judicial review of the legislative amendment of 2019, arguing that the difference in treatment between associations of landowners set up before and after the date of creation of the ACCA was disproportionate and contrary to Article 14 read in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. The Conseil d'État then requested this Court to give an advisory opinion on the following question:

What are the relevant criteria for assessing whether a difference in treatment established by law, ... pursues, with regard to the prohibitions laid down by Article 14 of the Convention in conjunction with Article 1 of the First Additional Protocol, an aim of public interest based on objective and rational criteria, in relation

^{142.} Advisory opinion on the difference in treatment between landowners' associations "having a recognised existence on the date of the creation of an approved municipal hunters' association" and landowners' associations set up after that date [GC], request no. P16-2021-002, French Conseil d'État, 13 July 2022. See also under Article 1 of Protocol No. 16 (Advisory opinions) below. 143. Chassagnou and Others v. France [GC], nos. 25088/94 and 2 others, §§ 11-15 and 35-53, ECHR 1999-III.

^{144.} Chabauty v. France [GC], no. 57412/08, §§ 18-23, 4 October 2012.

to the aims of the law establishing it which, in this case, aims to prevent the disorderly practice of hunting and to promote rational management of the game heritage, in particular by encouraging the practice of hunting on territories of a sufficiently stable and large area?

In this, its fifth, advisory opinion under Protocol No. 16, the Court provided useful guidance/clarification on aspects of the practical application of the non-discrimination rule enshrined in Article 14 of the Convention.

(i) The advisory opinion is noteworthy in that the Court had, for the first time, the opportunity to assess the compatibility with Article 14 of a provision in which an old (usually more advantageous and lenient) rule continues to apply to some existing situations while a new (usually stricter rule) applies to all future cases. Although raising this as a preliminary question of its own motion, the Court did not give a clear answer whether such a temporal criterion was covered by the expression "other status" contained in Article 14. It reiterated its previous case-law according to which the words "other status" might encompass criteria other than "personal characteristics" in the narrow sense (innate or inherent in the person, Molla Sali v. Greece¹⁴⁵) and declared that a difference in treatment based on the date of creation of a legal entity, as in the present case, could not be excluded a priori from the scope of Article 14. However, the temporal criterion also referred indirectly to the size of the land and thus to "property", on the basis of which discrimination is expressly prohibited by Article 14 (Chassagnou and Others, §§ 95-98, and Chabauty, § 27, both cited above).

(ii) The Court also gave several valuable indications as regards the concept of "analogous or relevantly similar situations" and the applicable burden of proof for the purposes of Article 14. It held that a domestic court might require that the person who claims to be a victim of discrimination demonstrate, having regard to the particular nature of his complaint, that he or she was in an analogous or similar (comparable) situation to that of other persons having received more favourable treatment. The relevant elements to be taken into account for that purpose are the area in which the alleged discrimination takes place, the aim of the impugned provision and the context in which the alleged discrimination is occurring. The assessment can only be based on objective and verifiable elements, and the comparable situations must be considered as a whole, avoiding isolated or marginal aspects

^{145.} Molla Sali v. Greece [GC], no. 20452/14, § 134, 19 December 2018.

which would make the entire analysis artificial. Since the existence of an "analogous situation" does not imply that the categories compared are identical, it is necessary to determine, with regard to the nature of the complaint, whether the objectively relevant similarities between both situations predominate over the differences. Finally, the Court specified that the criterion of the "aim pursued by the legislature", while entirely relevant at the stage of the analysis of the "legitimate and reasonable" nature of the difference in treatment, could deprive Article 14 of its substance if applied for the purposes of comparison between two situations, as it would then suffice for the legislature to adopt laws placing the two elements to be compared in different situations with regard to the objective pursued, to prevent any review of the compatibility of these situations with the Convention.

(iii) As regards the "legitimate aim" pursued by the impugned difference in treatment, the Court gave some indications as to the respective general weight of the values and interests invoked by the parties in proceedings involving environmental policies. It emphasised that the right to hunt on one's own land or on the land of others was not protected, as such, by any provision of the Convention or its Protocols. On the other hand, the protection of the environment undoubtedly corresponds to the "general interest" for the purposes of the Convention, even if no provision of the Convention is specifically intended to ensure the general protection of the environment (among others, *Yaşar v. Romania*¹⁴⁶; O'Sullivan McCarthy Mussel Development Ltd v. Ireland¹⁴⁷; and *Kristiana Ltd. v. Lithuania*¹⁴⁸).

(iv) As to the proportionality of the difference in treatment, the Court also reiterated the principle according to which the possible existence of alternative and less severe solutions cannot, in itself, be a decisive argument in favour of the disproportionate and unreasonable nature of the means chosen by the domestic legislature to achieve the legitimate aim. As long as the State does not exceed the limits of its margin of appreciation and the means applied are in line with the legitimate aims pursued by the law, it is not for the Court to say whether the legislation represented the best solution for dealing with the problem or whether the legislative discretion should have been exercised in another way (*James and Others v. the United Kingdom*¹⁴⁹).

^{146.} Yaşar v. Romania, no. 64863/13, 26 November 2019.

^{147.} O'Sullivan McCarthy Mussel Development Ltd v. Ireland, no. 44460/16, § 109, 7 June 2018.

^{148.} Kristiana Ltd. v. Lithuania, no. 36184/13, §§ 104-05, 6 February 2018.

^{149.} James and Others v. the United Kingdom, 21 February 1986, Series A no. 98.

(v) Finally, the Court emphasised the need to include in the assessment of proportionality under Article 14 the overall impact of the impugned provision on the persons concerned, namely, whether the effects of the difference in treatment may turn out to be offset, or at least mitigated, by certain rights or advantages reserved for the aggrieved party (for example, the fact that the landowner associations set up after the ACCA continue to derive benefits from maintaining their membership in the ACCA system even if they do not benefit from the right to withdraw from this system; *mutatis mutandis, Chabauty*, cited above, § 55).

Right to free elections (Article 3 of Protocol No. 1)

Stand for election

In response to the request submitted by the Lithuanian Supreme Administrative Court under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion¹⁵⁰ on 8 April 2022, which concerned the assessment of the proportionality of a general prohibition on standing for election after removal from office in impeachment proceedings.

In 2014, as a result of impeachment proceedings, Ms N.V. was removed from her position as a member of the *Seimas* owing to her non-participation without an excuse in the *Seimas*'s meetings (she had fled Lithuania as a result of pending criminal proceedings). In 2020 the Central Electoral Commission refused to register her as a candidate in the upcoming *Seimas* elections because of the statutory ban on standing for election after removal from office in impeachment proceedings. In its 2011 judgment in *Paksas v. Lithuania*¹⁵¹, this Court held that the permanent and irreversible nature of such a ban was disproportionate and a breach of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1. The execution of that judgment is still pending before the Committee of Ministers. Ms N.V. challenged the decision of the Central Electoral Commission before the Supreme Administrative Court, which requested this Court to give an advisory opinion on the following questions:

1. Does a Contracting State overstep the margin of appreciation conferred to it by Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention, if it does not guarantee the compatibility of the national law with the

^{150.} Advisory opinion on the assessment, under Article 3 of Protocol No. 1, of the proportionality of a general prohibition on standing for election after removal from office in impeachment proceedings [GC], request no. P16-2020-002, Lithuanian Supreme Administrative Court, 8 April 2022. See also under Article 1 of Protocol No. 16 (Advisory opinions) below.

^{151.} Paksas v. Lithuania [GC], no. 34932/04, ECHR 2011 (extracts).

international obligations arising from the provisions of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention, which results in preventing a person, who has been removed from office of a Member of the *Seimas* under the impeachment proceedings, from implementing their "passive" right to elections for six years?

In case of affirmative response, could such situation be justified by the complexity of the existing circumstances, directly related to providing an opportunity to the legislative body to align the national provisions of the constitutional level with the international obligations?

2. What are the requirements and criteria implied by Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention, which determine the scope of the application of the principle of proportionality, and which the national court should take into account and verify whether they are complied with in the existing situation at issue?

In such situation, when assessing the proportionality of a general prohibition restricting the exercise of the rights provided for in Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention, should not only the introduction of the time-limit, but also the circumstances of each individual case, related to the nature of the office from which a person has been removed and the act which resulted in impeachment, be held crucial?

(i) In this, its third, advisory opinion under Protocol No. 16, the Court identified the limits of advisory opinions as regards issues relating to the execution of the Court's judgments.

In particular, the Court understood the first question to essentially be asking whether the Supreme Administrative Court should take into account the difficulties encountered by the Lithuanian authorities in executing the *Paksas* judgment. The Court also had regard to the most recent decision of the Committee of Ministers: the Deputies noted the Government's initial intention to await delivery of the present advisory opinion of the Court before proceeding with the execution of the *Paksas* judgment and to resume their examination after delivery. In this respect, the Court stressed that Protocol No. 16 had not been envisaged as an instrument to be used in the context of execution. The Court also noted recent developments within the *Seimas* as regards the constitutional amendment process: the draft amendment (replacing the permanent ban with a ten-year one) would be scheduled for a second voting during the *Seimas's* spring session. Taking all these elements into account, the

Court decided that it was not appropriate to give an answer to the first question.

(ii) Without prejudice to any legislative initiatives by the *Seimas* to remedy the problem created by the failure to execute the *Paksas* judgment, the Court answered the second question from the perspective of the requesting court, in keeping with the object and purpose of Protocol No. 16. In this regard, the Court clarified the requirements and criteria relevant for the assessment of whether, in the concrete circumstances of a given case, the ban preventing an impeached former member of parliament to stand for election to the *Seimas* had become disproportionate for the purposes of Article 3 of Protocol No. 1.

In this connection and with regard specifically to the facts relating to the present opinion, the Court reiterated its finding in Paksas according to which, in assessing the proportionality of a general measure restricting the exercise of the rights guaranteed by Article 3 of Protocol No. 1, decisive weight should be attached to the existence of a time-limit and the possibility of reviewing the measure in guestion. The need for such a possibility was linked to the fact that the assessment of that issue must have regard to the evolving historical and political context in the State concerned. Furthermore, while States enjoyed considerable latitude to establish in their constitutional order rules governing the status of parliamentarians, these rules should not be such as to exclude some persons or groups of persons from participating in the political life of a country and in the choice of the legislature (Aziz v. Cyprus¹⁵²). The Court also reiterated that, with the passage of time, general restrictions on electoral rights become more difficult to justify, thus requiring restrictive measures to be individualised (*Ādamsons v. Latvia*¹⁵³). On this basis, the Court went on to clarify that the reference in *Paksas* to the weight to be attached to the existence of a time-limit and the possibility of reviewing the ban in guestion was not necessarily to be understood as requiring these two elements to be combined. Nor did it specify whether the timelimit applicable in a given case should be set in the abstract or on a caseby-case basis. What mattered in the end was for the ban in question to remain proportionate within the meaning of the Paksas judgment. This could be achieved by way of an appropriate legislative framework or judicial review of the duration, nature and extent of a ban applicable to the person concerned.

The Court developed a number of substantive and procedural requirements for a determination of the appropriate and proportionate

^{152.} Aziz v. Cyprus, no. 69949/01, § 28, ECHR 2004-V.

^{153.} Ādamsons v. Latvia, no. 3669/03, § 125, 24 June 2008.

length of a ban precluding an impeached person from being eligible for a given function. In the first place, it should be based on an individualised assessment, having regard to the particular circumstances of the person concerned. Secondly, it should have regard to the specific circumstances applicable at the time of the review. In this context, the findings in *Paksas* that a lifelong disqualification was a disproportionate restriction did not, in itself, imply that a decision to ban a person from standing for election, at the time of such a refusal, would necessarily amount to a disproportionate restriction: whether that was the case would depend on the assessment to be performed. Lastly, the relevant procedure should be surrounded by sufficient safeguards designed to ensure respect for the rule of law and protection against arbitrariness, including the need for an independent body as well as for the person concerned to be heard by the latter and to be provided with a reasoned decision.

Having regard to the primary purpose of the impeachment and the subsequent ban – to protect parliamentary institutions – the Court specified the relevant criteria for the proportionality assessment:

[They] should be objective in nature and allow relevant circumstances connected not only with the events which led to the impeachment of the person concerned but also – and primarily – with the functions sought to be exercised by that person in the future, to be taken into account in a transparent way. They should therefore be identified mainly from the perspective of the requirements of the proper functioning of the institution of which that person sought to become a member, and indeed of the constitutional system and democracy as a whole in the State concerned.

This comes down to evaluating the objective impact which that person's potential membership of the institution concerned would have on the latter's functioning, having regard to such considerations as the past and contemporary behaviour of the person who has been removed from office in impeachment proceedings, the nature of the wrongdoing which led to impeachment, and – more importantly – the institutional and democratic stability of the institution concerned, the nature of the latter's duties and responsibilities, and the likelihood of the person having the potential to significantly disrupt the functioning of that institution or indeed of democracy as a whole in the State concerned. Aspects such as that person's loyalty to the State, encompassing his or her respect for the country's Constitution, laws, institutions and independence, may also be relevant in this respect (*Tănase v. Moldova*¹⁵⁴).

^{154.} Tănase v. Moldova [GC], no. 7/08, §§ 166-67, ECHR 2010.

Prohibition of collective expulsion of nationals (Article 3 of Protocol No. 4)

Right to enter national territory

The judgment in *H.F. and Others v. France*¹⁵⁵ concerned jurisdiction, the scope of the right to enter national territory and procedural obligations in the context of a refusal to repatriate.

In 2014 and 2015, the applicants' daughters, who were French nationals, left France for Syria with their partners, where they gave birth to children. Since 2019, after the military fall of the so-called Islamic State (ISIS), they have reportedly been detained, with their children, in camps run by the Syrian Democratic Forces ("the SDF"), a local force fighting against ISIS and dominated by the Kurdish militia. The applicants unsuccessfully sought urgent repatriation of their daughters and grandchildren. The domestic courts refused to accept jurisdiction on the grounds that the requests concerned the conduct by France of its international relations.

The applicants complained under Article 3 of the Convention and Article 3 of Protocol No. 4. The Court held that the applicants' family members were outside of the jurisdiction of France as regards the complaint under Article 3 (alleged ill-treatment in the camps). The jurisdiction of France was established in respect of the complaint under Article 3 of Protocol No. 4, the Grand Chamber finding a breach of that provision.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court has, for the first time, ruled on the existence of a jurisdictional link between a State and its "nationals" in respect of a complaint under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4, and has examined the scope of this provision, including with regard to the extent of procedural obligations of the State in the context of a refusal to repatriate.

(i) As regards a jurisdictional link and Article 3 of Protocol No. 4, the Court first clarified that the fact that this Article (unlike Article 1 of the Convention) applies only to nationals was not sufficient to establish the extraterritorial exercise of jurisdiction by a State. Secondly, the refusal to grant the applicants' request had not formally deprived their family members of the right to enter France or prevented them from doing so: they were physically unable to reach the French border (since they were being held in Syrian camps) and France neither exercised "effective

^{155.} H.F. and Others v. France [GC], nos. 24384/19 and 44234/20, 14 September 2022.

control" over the relevant territory nor had any "authority" or "control" over them. In this regard, relying on the preparatory work and other international instruments, the Court clarified that the right to enter was not limited to nationals already on the territory of the State concerned or under its effective control, but it also had to benefit those nationals outside of the State's jurisdiction. Further, if Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 were to apply only to nationals who arrived at the national border or who had no travel documents, it would be deprived of effectiveness in the contemporary context of increasing globalisation/international mobility which is presenting new challenges in terms of security and defence in the fields of diplomatic and consular protection, international humanitarian law and international cooperation.

From this perspective, the Court did not therefore exclude that certain circumstances relating to the situation of individuals who wished to enter the State of which they were nationals, might give rise to a jurisdictional link with that State. Such circumstances would necessarily depend on the specific features of each case and might vary considerably from one case to another. In the instant case, the following special features enabled the Court to establish France's jurisdiction in respect of the complaint raised under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4: repatriation had been sought officially and the requests referred to a real and immediate threat to the lives and health of the applicants' family members, including extremely vulnerable young children; the impossibility for them to leave the camps without the assistance of the French authorities; and the willingness of the Kurdish authorities to hand them over to France.

(ii) The Court went on to clarify the meaning and scope of the right to enter national territory under Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 in the following particular respects: (a) the application of Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 does not exclude situations where the national has either voluntarily left the national territory and is then denied the right to re-enter or where the person has never even set foot in the country concerned; (b) while the right to enter is an absolute one, there may be room for implied limitations, where appropriate, in the form of exceptional temporary measures (for example, the context of the COVID-19 pandemic); (c) it cannot be ruled out that informal or indirect measures which *de facto* deprive a national of the effective enjoyment of his or her right to return may, depending on the circumstances, be incompatible with this provision; (d) as regards the implementation of

the right to enter, the scope of any positive obligations would inevitably vary, depending on the diverse situations in the Contracting States and the choices to be made in terms of priorities and resources, and they must not be interpreted in such a way as to impose an impossible or disproportionate burden on the authorities.

(iii) The Court clarified that there was no general right to repatriation on the basis of the right to enter national territory: it noted the potential risk, if such a right were to be instituted, of recognising an individual right to diplomatic protection which would be incompatible with international law and the discretionary power of States.

(iv) At the same time, in the Court's view, Article 3 § 2 of Protocol No. 4 may impose a positive obligation on the State where, in view of the specificities of a given case, a refusal to take any action would leave the national concerned in a situation comparable, de facto, to that of an exile. In order to assess the existence of, and compliance with, any such obligations in a repatriation context, the Court developed a twotier test: in the first place, it will ascertain whether there are exceptional circumstances (such as extraterritorial factors directly threatening the life and physical well-being of a child in a situation of extreme vulnerability); and, secondly, it will address the guestion of whether the decision-making process was surrounded by appropriate safeguards against arbitrariness. This presupposes a review mechanism before an independent - not necessarily judicial - body through which it can be ascertained, on the basis of the relevant evidence, that there is no arbitrariness in any of the grounds for the impugned decision. Such review should enable the applicant to be made aware, even summarily, of these grounds. It should also ensure that due account is taken of a child's best interests, particular vulnerability and specific needs.

The Court went on to find that the present case disclosed such exceptional circumstances: the family members of the applicants had been in a humanitarian emergency and a legal vacuum; there was no prospect of their daughters being tried in Syria; and the Kurdish authorities, as well as international organisations, had repeatedly called on States to repatriate their nationals. However, the examination of the repatriation requests had not been surrounded by appropriate safeguards against arbitrariness, notably given the absence of a formal decision and the jurisdictional immunity raised by the domestic courts. France had therefore failed to comply with its procedural obligations under Article 3 of Protocol No. 4 to the Convention.

BINDING FORCE AND EXECUTION OF JUDGMENTS (ARTICLE 46)

Infringement proceedings

The judgment in *Kavala v. Türkiye*¹⁵⁶ is the second judgment in an infringement procedure for failure to abide by the Court's final judgment explicitly indicating the need for an applicant's immediate release.

In its first *Kavala* judgment¹⁵⁷, the Court found, *inter alia*, a violation of Article 5 § 1, taken separately and in conjunction with Article 18: the applicant's pre-trial detention was not justified by any "reasonable suspicion" but rather was based on the mere exercise of Convention rights by a human rights defender, and that it had, moreover, pursued the ulterior purpose of silencing him. It further indicated under Article 46 that the respondent State had "to secure his immediate release". Since he was not released, in 2022 the Committee of Ministers ("the CM") brought infringement proceedings in accordance with Article 46 § 4. In the Government's view, the Kavala judgment had been executed in full since the applicant was no longer detained on the basis of any of the charges which the Court had examined (Articles 309 and 312 of the Criminal Code ("the CC")): between 9 March 2020 and 25 April 2022, he had been placed in pre-trial detention on a new charge (Article 328 of the CC) and thereafter he was detained on a new ground, namely, to serve a life prison sentence following his conviction under Article 312 of the CC.

Applying the general principles set out in *Ilgar Mammadov v. Azerbaijan*¹⁵⁸, the Grand Chamber found that Türkiye had failed to fulfil its obligation under Article 46 § 1. As to the new charge under Article 328, there were striking similarities, or even complete duplication, between the facts invoked in this respect and those already scrutinised in the first judgment. However, a mere reclassification of the same facts could not in principle modify the basis for the Court's conclusions. The conviction under Article 312 had also been based on those same facts. Importantly, the finding of a violation of Article 5 § 1, read separately and in conjunction with Article 18, had vitiated any action resulting from the charges relating to those facts. In the absence of other relevant and sufficient circumstances capable of demonstrating that Mr Kavala had been involved in criminal activity, any measure, especially one depriving

^{156.} Kavala v. Türkiye (infringement proceedings) [GC], no. 28749/18, 11 July 2022.

^{157.} Kavala v. Turkey, no. 28749/18, 10 December 2019.

^{158.} *Ilgar Mammadov v. Azerbaijan* (infringement proceedings) [GC], no. 15172/13, 29 May 2019.

him of his liberty, on grounds pertaining to the same factual context, had entailed a prolongation of the violations found and a breach of Article 46 § 1.

The Grand Chamber judgment is noteworthy in that the Court confirmed the general principles relating to infringement proceedings (see the first judgment of this kind, *Ilgar Mammadov*, cited above) and it also clarified certain matters concerning the roles of, and the institutional balance between, the Court and the CM: the nature of the CM's right to launch such proceedings; the role of the explicit indication in the initial judgment of individual measures under Article 46; the need for the applicant to lodge a new application with the Court in respect of the State's failure to execute the Court's initial judgment; and the possibility of a parallel examination by the Court and the CM of the domestic proceedings triggered by that judgment.

(i) The Government argued that the institution of the infringement proceedings by the CM had not been justified by any "exceptional circumstances" (as provided for by the CM Rules and the Explanatory Report to Protocol No. 14). It had, moreover, amounted to a breach of the Convention system, in so far as it had interfered in the ongoing domestic criminal proceedings. The Court responded that the criterion of "exceptional circumstances" was intended to indicate that the CM should apply a high threshold before launching this procedure, which had to be viewed therefore as a measure of last resort (notably, in cases where the CM considered that the other means of securing the execution of a judgment had ultimately proved unsuccessful and were no longer adapted to the situation). At the same time, the Court stressed that infringement proceedings were not intended to upset the fundamental institutional balance between the Court and the CM. The right to initiate a referral was a "procedural prerogative" falling within the CM's responsibility. Consequently, where this procedure was duly initiated, it was not the Court's task to express a view on the desirability of such a decision by the CM. Having received the CM's request, the Court was required to make a definitive legal assessment of the guestion of compliance with the judgment in question.

(ii) In contrast to the judgment in *Ilgar Mammadov*, the first *Kavala* judgment contained an explicit indication under Article 46, namely that Mr Kavala be released immediately. The Court clarified the role of such indications. On the one hand, according to its settled case-law, the ultimate choice of the measures to be taken to execute a judgment remains with the States under the supervision of the CM. On the other, by its very nature the violation found may not leave any real choice as

to the measures required to remedy it. This is particularly true where the case concerns detention that the Court has found to be manifestly unjustified under Article 5 § 1, in that there is an urgent need to put an end to the violation in view of the importance of the fundamental right to liberty and security. This observation is all the more valid where, as in the present case, the violation originated in detention that was also held to be contrary to Article 18. In consequence, the fact of giving indications under Article 46, as in the present case, enables the Court, in the first place, to ensure as soon as it delivers its judgment that the protection afforded by the Convention is effective and to prevent continued violation of the rights in issue and, subsequently, assists the CM in its supervision role. Such indications also enable and require the State concerned to put an end, as quickly as possible, to the violation of the Convention found by the Court.

(iii) The Government also argued that Mr Kavala should have lodged a new application with the Court about his continued detention after the initial judgment, having exhausted the domestic remedies. In the first place, the Court noted that pleas of inadmissibility were not relevant in the context of infringement proceedings. Secondly, the Court reconfirmed that it was for the CM to supervise and assess the specific measures to be taken in order to ensure the maximum possible reparation for the violations found by the Court. The question of compliance by the High Contracting Parties with its judgments fell outside the Court's jurisdiction if it was not raised in the context of the "infringement procedure" provided for in Article 46 §§ 4 and 5 of the Convention. The fact that Mr Kavala had not lodged a new application to the Court therefore had no fundamental bearing for the purpose of its examination of whether Türkiye had complied with its obligation under Article 46 § 1.

(iv) In connection with the domestic implementation process, it was observed that the Court and the CM, in the context of their different duties, might be required to examine, even simultaneously, the same domestic proceedings without upsetting the fundamental institutional balance between them. The Court reiterated in this regard that Article 46 did not preclude its examination and that it had competence to entertain complaints in follow-up cases, for example where the domestic authorities had carried out a fresh examination of a case in the implementation of one of the Court's judgments, whether by reopening the proceedings (*Emre v. Switzerland (no. 2)*¹⁵⁹, and *Hertel*

^{159.} Emre v. Switzerland (no. 2), no. 5056/10, 11 October 2011 (extracts).

*v. Switzerland*¹⁶⁰) or by initiating an entirely new set of proceedings (United Macedonian Organisation Ilinden – PIRIN and Others v. Bulgaria (no. 2)¹⁶¹, and Liu v. Russia (no. 2)¹⁶²); the same applied when the "new issue" resulted from the continuation of the violation found by the Court (Ivanţoc and Others v. Moldova and Russia¹⁶³).

ADVISORY OPINIONS (ARTICLE 1 OF PROTOCOL No. 16)

In response to the request submitted by the Lithuanian Supreme Administrative Court under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion¹⁶⁴ on 8 April 2022. It concerns the assessment of the proportionality of a general prohibition on standing for election after removal from office in impeachment proceedings.

In response to the request submitted by the Armenian Court of Cassation under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion¹⁶⁵ on 26 April 2022, which concerned the applicability of statutes of limitations to the prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture.

In response to the request submitted by the French *Conseil d'État* under Protocol No. 16 to the Convention, the Court delivered its advisory opinion¹⁶⁶ on 13 July 2022, which concerned the difference in treatment between landowner associations "having a recognised existence on the date of the creation of an approved municipal hunters' association" and those set up after that date.

^{160.} Hertel v. Switzerland, 25 August 1998, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1998-VI.

^{161.} The United Macedonian Organisation llinden – PIRIN and Others v. Bulgaria (no. 2), nos. 41561/07 and 20972/08, 18 October 2011.

^{162.} Liu v. Russia (no. 2), no. 29157/09, 26 July 2011.

^{163.} Ivanţoc and Others v. Moldova and Russia, no. 23687/05, 15 November 2011.

^{164.} Advisory opinion on the assessment, under Article 3 of Protocol No. 1, of the proportionality of a general prohibition on standing for election after removal from office in impeachment proceedings [GC], request no. P16-2020-002, Lithuanian Supreme Administrative Court, 8 April 2022. See also under Article 3 of Protocol No. 1 (Stand for election) above.

^{165.} Advisory opinion on the applicability of statutes of limitation to the prosecution, conviction and punishment in respect of an offence constituting, in substance, an act of torture [GC], request no. P16-2021-001, Armenian Court of Cassation, 26 April 2022. See also under Article 7 (No punishment without law) above.

^{166.} Advisory opinion on the difference in treatment between landowners' associations "having a recognised existence on the date of the creation of an approved municipal hunters' association" and landowners' associations set up after that date [GC], request no. P16-2021-002, French Conseil d'État, 13 July 2022. See also under Article 14 taken in conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 above.